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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you for

          3  joining us here in the joint Committee of Health

          4  Information Technology with my Co-chair over here,

          5  Gale Brewer and myself, Chair of the Health

          6  Committee.

          7                 Today we're going to investigate the

          8  state of information technology and primary care

          9  centers here in New York City.  Health Information

         10  Technology, or HIT, is one of the most exciting and

         11  promising developments in health care.  Electronic

         12  health records, decision support technologies, and

         13  electronic prescription systems have the ability to

         14  significantly improve, not only the quality of care,

         15  but also the patient's interaction with physicians

         16  and clinical staff.

         17                 HIT systems also offer tremendous

         18  opportunity for the public health officials to

         19  better monitor vital public health indicators. HIT

         20  can create a pathway for increased cooperation and

         21  coordination between public health authorities and

         22  medical providers.

         23                 Information technology systems may

         24  also be able to significantly reduce the amount of

         25  paperwork that inundates physicians, as well as
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          2  reduce medical errors and associated malpractice

          3  costs.

          4                 Primary care centers are a critical

          5  component in the City's vast and complex healthcare

          6  network.  These community based health facilities

          7  are all too often far behind larger medical

          8  facilities and acute care hospitals in terms of HIT

          9  implementation.  However, these facilities represent

         10  the medical home for thousands of New Yorkers.  Many

         11  of them lower- income and it is critical that they

         12  have the best information technology systems

         13  available.

         14                 In 2006, Mayor Bloomberg created the

         15  Primary Care Information Project or PCIP, PCIP which

         16  is managed in partnership with the Primary Care

         17  Development Corporation is designed to support the

         18  adoption of HIT systems in family care settings.

         19                 Today we will hear from the

         20  Department of Health, and from the Primary Care

         21  Development Corporation about the progress, or PCDC,

         22  about the progress of the PCIP program and what

         23  challenges remain.

         24                 Supporting the universal

         25  implementation of HIT in primary care settings is a
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          2  crucial goal in the City's effort to improve the

          3  quality of care available to all New Yorkers.  The

          4  fact is that consumers are forced to accept a level

          5  of technological sophistication from their doctor

          6  that they would never accept from their bank.

          7                 We need to move the City's medical

          8  practices into the 21st Century, both for quality of

          9  care and for the financial health of our providers.

         10                 At this point I would like to

         11  introduce my colleague, Council Member Gale Brewer,

         12  Chair of the Committee on Technology in Government,

         13  who will make an opening statement, and who also is

         14  by far one of the most technologically advanced

         15  council members here out of the 51 of us here in

         16  City Hall.

         17                 The show is yours.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         19  much, Council Member Rivera.

         20                 It is a pleasure to do this with you.

         21                 I am here because during the last

         22  budget cycle the Council, under our leadership, but

         23  with the full support of the Speaker, and all of the

         24  members, put an initiative to work with PCDC, and

         25  that has become such a wonderful acronym Ronda, that

                                                            7

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  nobody can remember what it stands for.  It's the

          3  Primary Care Development Corporation.  That's a

          4  credit to you that it works. But the fact of the

          5  matter is, that initiative, and we'll hear a lot

          6  more about it, uses technology to think of ways and

          7  to implement ways to solve the first responder

          8  issue, and all kinds of alternatives to a current

          9  center, if in fact God forbid, there should be even

         10  a minor disaster.

         11                 In going to the forums in which the

         12  many, many individuals were trained, not just on how

         13  to use the technology, but how  --  which has always

         14  been my interest in technology  -- how to use a

         15  technology to achieve your goal.  Never to use

         16  technology for technologies sake.  So, I could see

         17  the best possible demonstration of using technology

         18  to achieve a goal of some kind of better operability

         19  and certainly redundancy, and you'll hear more about

         20  that.  But just going to that session I thank you

         21  PCDC for inviting me, you could see the reason for

         22  this discussion here today.

         23                 This is definitely an oversight

         24  hearing on the topic, as Council Member Rivera said,

         25  so I just want to go to the Health Information
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          2  Technology, known as HIT.  It's the use of

          3  computers, computer programs to store, protect,

          4  retrieve and transfer clinical, administrative, and

          5  financial information electronically within health

          6  care settings.  HIT can improve the quality, safety

          7  and effectiveness of health care, no surprise to

          8  anyone here in the room.  The systems can include

          9  the use of electronic health records, instead of

         10  paper records, electronic prescriptions, and the

         11  electronic transmittal of records and medical test

         12  results.

         13                 About four years ago, maybe three

         14  now, we passed a bill in the City Council to do with

         15  putting information about death records online, and

         16  needless to say, I spent one night at 125 Worth,

         17  waiting in line with many of the runners coming in

         18  from the funeral parlors, and I could see that there

         19  was a better way.

         20                 Electronic health records, EHR's can

         21  make health care more efficient by providing

         22  complete medical information about the patient or

         23  the clinician as a point- of- care, and an EHR can

         24  give multiple providers in diverse locations the

         25  opportunity to coordinate their efforts, facilitate
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          2  submission of claims to insurance providers, and

          3  simplify communications with public health agencies.

          4    This system can also allow patients to access

          5  their own records online, and communicate directly

          6  with their health care providers.

          7                 I think any of us know that when an

          8  important and helpful health website goes online,

          9  there are millions, if not billions of hits.  So,

         10  this kind of information needs to get out to the

         11  public, and to those of us who are taking and using

         12  the health service.

         13                 The Computerized Provider Order

         14  Entry, known as the CPOE system, another form of HIT

         15  allows physicians to order laboratory and diagnostic

         16  tests and prescribe medications electronically.

         17  These systems can potentially eliminate many serious

         18  errors every single year, medical errors, which of

         19  course is a big problem.  I think those of us who

         20  follow malpractice, and who are just generally

         21  concerned, and hopefully I think that HIT would

         22  definitely improve that situation.

         23                 The Primary Care Information Project

         24  spearheaded by the New York City Department of

         25  Health and Mental Hygiene was designed to increase
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          2  the use of HIT in primary care settings in the City.

          3  PCIP attempts to enhance the use of HIT through the

          4  Primary Care Health Information Consortium, this is

          5  getting worse than Rick Rock and everything else

          6  from the Department of Education, which was created

          7  in September 2005, with help from a grant from the

          8  Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, a foundation that

          9  always in the forefront.

         10                 PCHIC is using funds appropriated

         11  under the New York State's Health Care Efficiency

         12  and Affordability Law for New Yorkers Capital Grant

         13  Program, HEAL NY, and $2 million from the City

         14  Council to implement EHR systems in 29 participating

         15  CHC's. Well, that a mouthful.

         16                 The Health and Hospital Corporation,

         17  which has taken, no surprise to anybody given the

         18  past leaders, particularly the last two, has been

         19  very much in the forefront of technology.  HHC, the

         20  largest municipal hospital and health care system in

         21  our country, is a leader in HIT adoption.  In 2002,

         22  the American Hospital Association named Jacobi

         23  Medical Center and North Central Bronx Hospital as

         24  two of the 100 most "wired" hospitals in the nation.

         25                 A 1995 report by KPMG estimated that,
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          2  over ten years, full implementation of EHR

          3  throughout the HHC system would result in a return

          4  on investment of over $360 million.

          5                 The Healthcare Efficiency and

          6  Affordability Law for New Yorkers Capital Grant

          7  Program, HEAL NY as I mentioned before, is a multi-

          8  year, multi- phased program to identify and support

          9  the development and investment in HIT initiatives at

         10  the regional level.  The State of New York will

         11  invest up to $1 billion in HEAL NY over four years

         12  beginning with state Fiscal Year`05-`06.  During the

         13  first phase, 26 applicants received a total of $52.9

         14  million in grants.

         15                 In terms of the Federal situation, in

         16  2004 President Bush launched an initiative to make

         17  electronic health records available to most

         18  Americans within ten years.  That was one of the

         19  ways that we were working with electronic death

         20  records.  To date, the President has established the

         21  position of the National Coordinator for Health

         22  Information Technology within HHS and the American

         23  Health Information Community.

         24                 I just want to close by stating that

         25  there is one other player in all of this, it's
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          2  called NYSERNET, and I always know the acronym and

          3  forget what in the world it stands for, but

          4  basically it's a non- profit that has wired many of

          5  the large cultural, medical, and other non- profit

          6  institutions, and they now have a loop that goes

          7  through Bronx, and Manhattan, and they are trying to

          8  move out onto Long Island through Brooklyn and

          9  Queens.  I mentioned this on Staten Island, is

         10  McMahon around somewhere, Staten Island will be in

         11  there somewhere, but the issue is that those kinds

         12  of efforts, which NYSERNET will soon be connecting

         13  to Cambridge and it has certainly has started at

         14  SUNY, Albany, it's going through some of the SUNY

         15  campuses.  That kind of backbone fiber cuts costs,

         16  but also allows some of this data to move much more

         17  quickly.

         18                 So while we're thinking about this on

         19  the local level, we also have to think about some of

         20  the bigger pictures.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

         23                 Before we have the first group

         24  testify, let me introduce my colleagues who are here

         25  today.  To my extreme left we have Council Member
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          2  Helen Foster, then we have Council Member Kendall

          3  Stewart, Council Member Helen Sears, Council Member

          4  Inez Dickens, then obviously, we have my Co-chair

          5  here, to my right we have Councilwoman Maria Baez,

          6  Council Member Maria del Carmen Arroyo, and Council

          7  Member Mike McMahon from the little island of Staten

          8  Island.

          9                 The first to testify today will be

         10  Doctor Louis Capponi from the New York City Health

         11  and Hospitals Corporation.

         12                 Just state your name for the record,

         13  and you may proceed with your testimony.

         14                 DR. CAPPONI:  Louis Capponi.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

         16                 DR. CAPPONI:  Good afternoon

         17  Chairpersons Rivera and Brewer, and members of the

         18  Health and Technology in Government Committees.

         19                 I am Louis Capponi, Chief Medical

         20  Inforamtics Officer for the New York City Health and

         21  Hospitals Corporation, and thank you for the

         22  opportunity to discuss the implementation of Health

         23  Information Technology in primary care settings.

         24                 In addition to being HHC's Chief

         25  Medical Information Officer, I am also a primary
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          2  care doctor, seeing patients every week on the Lower

          3  East Side of Manhattan at Gouverneur Heathcare

          4  Services.

          5                 As many of you already know, HHC's

          6  hospitals and community- based health centers, such

          7  as Gouverneur, play a significant role in providing

          8  primary care in New York City. Nearly five million

          9  outpatient visits occur at HHC each year, and this

         10  volume of primary care services give HHC a

         11  tremendous opportunity to leverage HIT innovations,

         12  and improve the health an lives of many New Yorkers.

         13                 Over the past decade, HHC has been an

         14  industry leader in the implementation of HIT.  We

         15  recognized that HIT could contribute significantly

         16  to achieving health care that is safer, more

         17  effective, efficient and patient- centered in both

         18  inpatient and outpatient or primary care settings.

         19                 One of the foundations upon which we

         20  have built and expanded HIT programs is through a

         21  comprehensive Electronic Medical Record or EMR.  HHC

         22  is one of the first hospital systems in New York to

         23  implement an EMR.  We have continued to add state

         24  of- the- art IT tools, including an electronic

         25  chronic disease registry, that I'll talk about
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          2  shortly, and an electronic medication administration

          3  tool to help our nurses administer the right

          4  medication to the patient in the right dose and at

          5  the right time.

          6                 We have integrated a depression

          7  screening tool and an asthma action plan into our

          8  EMR.  The asthma action plan, for example, embeds

          9  evidenced- based treatment protocols which have

         10  enabled HHC's clinical teams to more effectively

         11  manage their asthmatic patients.  The use of HIT as

         12  well as other strategies, we believe, have

         13  contributed to reductions in HHC emergency

         14  department and hospital admissions for asthma.

         15  Specifically, when compared to Fiscal Year 2004, in

         16  Fiscal Year 2006 there were 3,000 fewer HHC

         17  emergency department visits, and 700 fewer hospital

         18  admissions related to pediatric asthma.

         19                 As I mentioned, HHC has implemented

         20  an electronic disease registry.  Our initial focus

         21  has been our diabetic population.  The registry is a

         22  web- based clinical information tool with data

         23  supplied from patients' Electronic Medical Record by

         24  which information on blood sugar, cholesterol and

         25  blood pressure levels can be tracked and improved
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          2  upon.  There are more than 45,000 diabetic patients

          3  in this system- wide registry.  The registry allows

          4  our clinical teams to more closely track all of

          5  their patients with diabetes, more readily identify

          6  those in need of additional intervention, and guide

          7  the development of more effective evidence- based

          8  treatment plans.  The implementation of the

          9  electronic registry was completed last year.  Data

         10  now available demonstrates that this tool can

         11  facilitate more focused care and we have

         12  significantly increased the percentage of our

         13  diabetic patients who have well- controlled blood

         14  sugar, blood pressure and cholesterol.  With more

         15  than 95 percent of our adult diabetic patients

         16  included in this database, all of our providers can

         17  now use this powerful tool to produce more positive

         18  health outcomes.

         19                 We are using technology to work with

         20  diabetics in another area.  HHC has developed an

         21  innovative "House Calls" program with our health

         22  plan, MetroPlus, that is targeted to serve the

         23  uncontrolled diabetic population with hemoglobin

         24  A1C, or blood sugar levels, greater than nine.

         25  These patients have an increased risk of developing

                                                            17

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  diabetic complications and premature death.  A

          3  telephone size box is installed in the patient's

          4  home and connected to a regular phone line.  The

          5  patient is provided with a glucose meter, and is

          6  instructed to obtain and transmit blood glucose, or

          7  other relevant clinical readings to the "House

          8  Calls" clinical team.  Abnormal readings are

          9  discussed with the patient and the patients' health

         10  care team, and a customized action plan is

         11  developed.  The patient's primary care physician has

         12  real time access to clinical information about the

         13  patient's condition via a secured Internet

         14  connection to enhance and better coordinate care.

         15  There are currently 28 high risk diabetic patients

         16  participating in this program, and we have

         17  identified another 100 patients appropriate for

         18  enrollment.

         19                 HHC's Queens Health Network has also

         20  leveraged IT to implement a "Smart Card" that

         21  contains a key set of details from the patient's

         22  medical record.  "Smart Cards" are credit card-

         23  sized ID cards which have an embedded computer chip

         24  that can be updated after every medical encounter

         25  and hold encrypted computerized patient information.
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          2    The cards which have already been issued to 14,000

          3  patients at Elmhurst and Queens Hospital Centers

          4  provide patients with a portable health record that

          5  can be carried from provider to provider.  Over the

          6  next two years, through a pilot project, 45,000

          7   "Smart Cards" will be distributed to patients at

          8  Elmhurst and Queens, as well as New York Hospital

          9  Queens, Mount Sinai Hospital of Queens, and Jamaica

         10  Hospital.

         11                 New York State has recognized the

         12  importance of Health Information Technology exchange

         13  to improving the quality of healthcare delivery

         14  through its HEAL NY Health Information Technology

         15  grant funding program.  HHC is participating in

         16  several HEAL NY funded projects.  Four HHC

         17  facilities are participating in the New York

         18  Clinical Information Exchange, NYCLIX, which aims to

         19  provide key patient data to support patient care in

         20  emergency room settings.  HHC's Bronx- based

         21  hospitals are collaborating with the Bronx Regional

         22  Health Information Organization or RHIO, and HHC's

         23  Upper Manhattan hospitals are engaging with the New

         24  York Care Connect data exchange.  HHC has also

         25  engaged in planning efforts to develop a community-
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          2  based health information initiative focused on

          3  chronic illnesses with several community health

          4  centers and voluntary hospitals in East Harlem,

          5  Central Harlem and Upper Manhattan.

          6                 HHC's Elmhurst Hospital Center was

          7  awarded a HEAL NY Health Information Technology

          8  grant to develop a standard "Community Patient

          9  Record."  This record will be shared by

         10  participating hospitals and community health

         11  providers in the borough of Queens, through a secure

         12  web- based portal.  Physicians at Queens Hospital

         13  and Elmhurst Hospital as well as community health

         14  providers, will access the system to obtain test

         15  results and other health information for their

         16  patients.  The portal can also monitor for public

         17  health trends, particularly amongst Queens' huge and

         18  mobile population.

         19                 Elmhurst Hospital has just recently

         20  submitted an application for HEAL NY Phase III

         21  funding to expand the portal project to include New

         22  York Hospital Queens, Wyckoff Heights Medical

         23  Center, and St. John's, Mary Immaculate and Woodhull

         24  Medical and Mental Health Centers, and to create the

         25  ability to exchange information between the portal
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          2  and the New York City Department of Mental Health

          3  and Hygiene HEAL NY project.

          4                 HEAL NY grant funding also supports

          5  the expansion of the "Smart Card" that I mentioned

          6  earlier in this testimony.

          7                 Finally, HHC supports efforts of the

          8  New York City Department of Health and Mental

          9  Hygiene through its Primary Care Information

         10  Project, which you've mentioned, to procure an

         11  electronic health record to be used by community-

         12  based physicians and non- HHC community health

         13  centers.

         14                 As a primary care physician, I am

         15  constantly reminded of the inextricable connection

         16  between the access to patients' comprehensive health

         17  information and providing safe, effective and

         18  patient- centered care.  Each week in clinic, I see

         19  the challenges that people face in trying to manage

         20  facts about their health, particularly when they

         21  have complicated medical histories and chronic

         22  conditions, such as diabetes or mental illness.

         23                 Just two weeks ago, a patient with

         24  manic depression came to me complaining of abdominal

         25  pain.  She told me she had inflammatory bowel
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          2  disease, a very serious condition. She had been

          3  treated at Bellevue Hospital, another HHC facility,

          4  and asked me to check her records since she was

          5  hospitalized there about a year ago.  I was

          6  fortunate to have electronic access to her Bellevue

          7  Record.  I read that she had been given a complete

          8  diagnostic work up, and discovered that her

          9  diagnosis was, in fact, not inflammatory bowel

         10  disease as she described. Rather, it was a far less

         11  dangerous condition  --  irritable bowel disease.

         12  In the past, when she had gone to other providers,

         13  she even received dangerous medications, such as

         14  steroids.  Indeed, I would have sent her to the

         15  hospital, if it were not for the additional

         16  information that I was able to access.  I discussed

         17  her actual diagnoses with her; which she then

         18  recalled.  I also discussed the possible reasons for

         19  the increase in abdominal pain.  It turns out, she

         20  had just changed jobs and stress had caused the

         21  symptoms, which it had in the past.  We discussed

         22  this, and she was prescribed medication for acute

         23  anxiety.  As important, we were able to prevent an

         24  emergency room visit and a possible hospital

         25  admission.
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          2                 While HHC and others have made

          3  strides in the investment in an effective use of HIT

          4  in primary care settings to improve the care we

          5  provide, there continues to be a serious shortage of

          6  primary care capacity in many neighborhoods of New

          7  York City.  This shortage needs to be addressed.

          8  Ample research shows that, while preserving and

          9  enhancing primary care capacity requires up- front

         10  investment, it produces health system savings and

         11  improves health outcomes over the mid- and long-

         12  term.

         13                 Last year, HHC and the Primary Care

         14  Development Corporation (PCDC) issued a report on

         15  the primary care shortage. I want to bring to your

         16  attention some of the findings and recommendations

         17  of this report for which your advocacy with Governor

         18  Spitzer, your colleagues in the State Legislature

         19  and the next Commissioner of the New York State

         20  Department of Health, continues to be important.

         21                 Some of our findings were:

         22                 More than half of New York City

         23  communities have a significant shortage of primary

         24  care physicians serving low income New Yorkers.

         25  Although 39 percent of New York City's residents are
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          2  enrolled in Medicaid, only 25 percent of all primary

          3  care physicians serve this population.  Having

          4  health insurance does not necessarily guarantee

          5  access to primary care.

          6                 Unnecessary emergency room use and

          7  avoidable hospitalizations are particularly high in

          8  low- income communities.

          9                 One- third of all of New York City's

         10  primary care capacity for low- income residents is

         11  based in hospitals, making access to care for low-

         12  income New Yorkers highly vulnerable to hospital

         13  closures.

         14                 New York City's ambulatory care

         15  system is significantly underdeveloped compared to

         16  its inpatient system.

         17                 In our report, HHC and PCDC recommend

         18  that:

         19                 New York State policymakers address

         20  current underlying shortages in the availability of

         21  primary care resources.

         22                 Existing primary care capacity must

         23  be preserved or replaced.  Hospital

         24  restructuring/closures should not undo the expansion

         25  of the primary care delivery system achieved over
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          2  the last decade.

          3                 Primary Care resource availability

          4  and development decisions must be analyzed and

          5  addressed at the community level.

          6                 New York State's reimbursement system

          7  that currently underpays for primary care and

          8  imposes disincentives for building an effective

          9  primary care system must be reformed.

         10                 The State should dedicate a portion

         11  of the major public resources now available to

         12  restructure the health system to expand primary care

         13  services which have the necessary tools, such as

         14  HIT, to be effective.  These resources include the

         15  $1 billion from the HEAL NY, up to $1.5 billion in

         16  Federal, State and Health Reform, or F- SHRP

         17  funding, and monies available as the result of

         18  anticipated for- profit conversions of not- for-

         19  profit insurance companies.

         20                 This concludes my written testimony.

         21  I look forward to answering any questions you may

         22  have.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 I'll skip over to this one, thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 Before we move on to the questions,

          5  we're going to call up representatives from the

          6  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, Louise

          7  Cohen, as well as Farzad Mostashari.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 Just state your name for the record,

         10  then you may proceed with your testimony.

         11                 MS. COHEN:  Thank you, good afternoon

         12  Chairpersons Rivera and Brewer, and members of the

         13  New York City Council Committees on Health and

         14  Technology in Government.

         15                 I am Louise Cohen, Deputy

         16  Commissioner for Healthcare Access and Improvement

         17  at the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.  On

         18  behalf of Commissioner Frieden, I thank you for the

         19  opportunity to testify on this very important topic

         20  of implementing Health Information Technology in

         21  Primary Care Settings.

         22                 I am joined today by Doctor Farzad

         23  Mostashari, also the Division of Healthcare Access

         24  and Improvements Assistant Commissioner for the

         25  Primary Care Information Project, who will present a
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          2  power point on some of the ways in which we have

          3  been engaging in this important work of Health

          4  Information Technology in Primary Care Settings.

          5                 I appreciate the testimony of our

          6  colleagues from HHC, and I agree with their

          7  perspective on the importance of Health Information

          8  Technology, and the importance of primary care and

          9  finally, the importance of putting those two things

         10  together.

         11                 DR. MOSTASHARI:  Good afternoon

         12  Chairperson Rivera and Brewer, and members of the

         13  Health and Technology in Government Committees.

         14                 My name is Doctor Farzad Mostashari,

         15  and I thank you for the opportunity to discuss the

         16  Primary Care Information Project.

         17                 I think before we really start

         18  thinking about why electronic health record systems

         19  are critical, we have to acknowledge some of the

         20  problems with our current paper- based

         21  medical records, and health care system.

         22                 Patient information is frequently

         23  missing.  At the point-of-care, as Dr. Capponi just

         24  mentioned the example, many providers don't have

         25  access to the relevant information for patients.
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          2  It's estimated that one out of every seven

          3  hospitalizations could be prevented if the

          4  information is present at the emergency room.

          5                 Another problem is that medical

          6  knowledge is increasing at an exponential rate, and

          7  it is extremely difficult for providers to know what

          8  the guidelines are at the time they're seeing the

          9  patients and relate them to that patients care, all

         10  in the course of a brief office visit.  There are

         11  over 1,000 guidelines that have been put out by the

         12  CDC, and a recent landmark study found that less

         13  than 45 percent of all guidelines for critical

         14  preventive care measures are being followed.

         15                 In a way, medical errors become

         16  inevitable in such a health care system.  It's been

         17  estimated that 98,000 deaths occur every year from

         18  medical errors, not because health care providers

         19  don't want to do the right thing, but because the

         20  system isn't structured to deliver high quality

         21  care, particularly for prevention.

         22                 Another problem with the current

         23  paper- based medical record system is, it is

         24  impossible to manage a population of patients.  If

         25  you look at that medical records room, I think if we
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          2  dim the lights it might be even more dramatic, there

          3  is no way  --  it is actually a health center in New

          4  York which is undergoing the transition to

          5  electronic health records, and looking at a medical

          6  record room like that, and you ask the question, if

          7  the clinic administrator or physicians asked the

          8  question, "Of all of our records, how many of them

          9  are for patients on Vioxx, for whom we need to send

         10  a notice and tell them to change their medication?"

         11  There's no way for them to do that.  If you asked

         12  the question, "How many of our patients with

         13  diabetes are well controlled?"  It is impossible to

         14  use that information.  All the information is there,

         15  but there is no way for the provider and the

         16  practice to manage a population of patients.

         17                 So, electronic health records can

         18  improve care. That's been amply demonstrated.  The

         19  opportunities include reducing paperwork, reducing

         20  lost records, reducing drug and medication errors,

         21  reducing duplicate medications and tests, patient

         22  reminders, provider alerts to do the right thing,

         23  monitoring population health, monitoring health

         24  system performance, enabling payment for outcomes,

         25  not just process measures, and addressing and
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          2  understanding health disparities.            But

          3  there are also risks, the counterpart of the risks,

          4  of the opportunities on the left, are the risks.

          5  There's a risk that you become dependent on the

          6  Electronic Medical Record system, and then a network

          7  outage becomes truly unacceptable. There are new IT

          8  costs, new skills needed, planning, selection and

          9  implementation of these Health Information

         10  Technology systems can be an overwhelming task for

         11  many primary care providers who are just trying to

         12  do the right thing.

         13                 Electronic health record systems

         14  don't necessarily come with a prevention focus, and

         15  in general, there is no connection to public health

         16  built into commercial electronic health record

         17  systems.

         18                 Finally there is a risk that far from

         19  addressing health disparities, we introduce a

         20  digital divide that further separates the`have's and

         21  the have not's.'

         22                      So, what is the role of

         23  government?

         24                 I think it is in addressing those

         25  risks.  Will Health Information Technology address
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          2  public health priority issues, and will Health

          3  Information Technology adoption reach disadvantaged

          4  populations?

          5                 The potential benefits for New York

          6  City, the City as a whole, are many, and that also

          7  speaks to why we need to be involved.  For public

          8  health, monitoring and improving preventive care,

          9  and improving care for those most in need in

         10  particular. For providers of care, we've heard Dr.

         11  Capponi from the Health and Hospitals Corporation

         12  discuss how important electronic health records have

         13  been to HHC, and also for correctional health

         14  services.  Medicaid and uninsured; is this an

         15  opportunity for us to moderate costs without simply

         16  cutting services?

         17                 The Primary Care Information Project

         18  was founded in January of 2005.  We're located in

         19  the Division of Healthcare Access and Improvement.

         20  Our mission is to increase the quality of primary

         21  care in medically underserved areas through health

         22  IT. It's not IT for the sake of IT.

         23                 The concept is that all New Yorkers

         24  can benefit. The largest area of activity is

         25  clinical data exchange, and public health reporting
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          2  that Dr. Capponi mentioned already the importance

          3  of.  The middle rung is for us to define what are

          4  those public health functionalities that we think

          5  are so important and the preventive care

          6  functionalities to be within every electronic health

          7  record, and for all providers who have electronic

          8  health records to incorporate those functionalities

          9  within their systems.

         10                 Finally, a relatively small but

         11  critically important core of providers, correctional

         12  health, community health centers, providers who take

         13  care of the most disadvantaged populations of the

         14  City, Medicaid and the uninsured, to provide them

         15  with an actual electronic health record system that

         16  has been modified to incorporate public health

         17  functionalities.

         18                 The roadmap for the Primary Care

         19  Information Project is to procure a best of breed

         20  ambulatory electronic health record, to define

         21  public health functionalities, to extend this model

         22  EHR to primary care partners, over a thousand of

         23  them throughout the City in the next three years, to

         24  support health information exchange that is secure,

         25  and evaluation which is critically important.
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          2                 On the electronic health record

          3  procurement, we released our RFP a little less than

          4  a year ago.  We had an incredibly strong vendor

          5  response.  We had five finalists do in person

          6  demonstrations, we conducted financial and

          7  organizational due diligence, and our criteria

          8  focused around, first, an ambulatory care

          9  orientation around electronic health record.  We

         10  used national functionality, interoperability and

         11  security standards.  It was important for us that

         12  the system have modern architecture that would

         13  reduce the costs of any configuration,

         14  customization, and ongoing expenses to the

         15  providers, and we selected a company with strong

         16  corporate experience in financial's.

         17                 Next, defining public health

         18  functionalities.  We were fortunate in this work to

         19  be awarded, it was just recently announced, one of

         20  three new awards by the Centers for Disease Control

         21  and Prevention, for centers of excellence in public

         22  health informatics.  We were the only health

         23  department in the country to be so awarded such a

         24   --  the rest are all academic centers.  Our work in

         25  defining public health functionalities is in three
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          2  sections.

          3                 First defining quality measures that

          4  are outcome oriented, that are clinical, that are

          5  high performance, and that conform to what we

          6  believe is the right thing to do.

          7                 Second, decision support tools within

          8  the electronic health record that can help improve

          9  performance on those quality measures.  The chart on

         10  the right shows an example of what a decision

         11  support tool can do.   This is data from the

         12  Institute for Urban Family Health, and it shows that

         13  after they went fully paperless on their electronic

         14  health record in January of 2003, how many doses of

         15  pneumococcal vaccine were being administered to

         16  their elderly patients; about 20 to 30 a month. An

         17  electronic reminder system began in September of

         18  2003, and the next month, they gave 400 doses of

         19  vaccine.  They actually ran out of vaccine in a

         20  couple of months.  Over time, the total percent of

         21  the population that's been vaccinated has risen

         22  steadily.  It's not at 100 percent yet, but we're

         23  working on it.

         24                 Finally, public health

         25  functionalities include linkages to public health
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          2  information systems, like our immunization registry,

          3  school health, communicable disease reporting, and

          4  syndromic surveillance.  Our primary care partners

          5  are in three major categories; community health

          6  centers, which we'll hear about, critically

          7  important as safety net providers in the City and

          8  the country as a whole, small practices in hospital

          9  affiliated providers, and correctional health

         10  services.

         11                 Chairwoman Brewer was at the birth of

         12  the Community Health Center Consortium that our

         13  colleagues from Primary Care Development Corporation

         14  are going to speak about. The Community Health

         15  Center Consortium was supported, the convening of

         16  it, through the RWJ Robert Johnson Foundation

         17  Planning Grant.  It is called the Primary Care

         18  Health Information Consortium, or PCHIC, for short.

         19  It's a collaboration with Primary Care Development

         20  Corporation and the Community Health Center

         21  Association of New York State, and along with this

         22  Consortium, we applied for and received $3.2 million

         23  through the competitive HEAL NY process, that was

         24  already mentioned.

         25                 We also are prepared to match that
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          2  capital investment from the state with up to $5.6

          3  million of City capital, and the health centers

          4  themselves are going to provide in- kind and cash

          5  matches of up to $9 million.  This funding can be

          6  used to purchase new electronic health records or to

          7  add public health functionality into existing EHR's.

          8                 Readiness; adopting information

          9  technology is difficult, and it's risky, and a lot

         10  of work needs to go into making sure that people are

         11  ready to adopt the information technology.  It

         12  places, as I said, new demands on the system, new

         13  demands on the providers.  We've conducted on- site

         14  readiness assessments at all of the community health

         15  centers, and PCDC and the Department are working

         16  together to put together a technical assistance

         17  resource, which you will hear about.

         18                 The infrastructure dollars that City

         19  Council has awarded are critically necessary to help

         20  ensure that health centers have the infrastructure

         21  needed, the networking, the technology

         22  infrastructure, the servers to be able to operate

         23  the state- of- the- art electronic health records.

         24                 Additionally, the Institute for Urban

         25  Family Health representing the Primary Care Health
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          2  Information Consortium applied for and received

          3  $600,000 for a workforce re training initiative that

          4  can help take care of the re- training that's going

          5  to be necessary.

          6                 The assessments are going to fulfill

          7  two needs. First, the development of the technical

          8  systems programs, second, internally to the health

          9  centers for them to help develop an internal

         10  analysis of the data, develop an action plan, and

         11  assist it with the technical assistance, the tools,

         12  templates, and the collaborative processes, achieve

         13  readiness prior to HIT adoption.

         14                 One of the issues that we looked at

         15  carefully was the technical capacity that they need,

         16  and if you look, there's some issues that many of

         17  the health centers have adequate capacity on.  For

         18  example, back- up power systems, others, there's

         19  definitely a need for more support.  Things like

         20  dedicated servers, or the presence of PC's in the

         21  exam rooms.

         22                 We're also conducting outreach to

         23  other practices, primary care providers, small

         24  practices and hospital affiliated providers.  We

         25  have copies of the City Health Information
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          2  Newsletter that just went up on our website.  The

          3  printed copies will be available soon, but we have

          4  some draft copies printed out for you, and it

          5  basically provides details on how electronic health

          6  records can help improve the quality, safety and

          7  efficiency of primary care practice, and provide

          8  details of how to select a system, how to be ready,

          9  how to implement it, and some lessons learned.

         10                 Eligible primary care practices can

         11  receive the City's`Take Care New York' build of the

         12  electronic health record system at a substantial

         13  discount.  Eligibility is for those who care for

         14  underserved or vulnerable populations who see at

         15  least 30 percent Medicaid and uninsured patients,

         16  those who practice in District Public Health Office

         17  areas in the South Bronx, Harlem, and Central

         18  Brooklyn will be given priority.  They also must

         19  express a willingness to participate in our public

         20  health goals, including automated, confidential

         21  quality measurement, indicator reporting, to

         22  participate in quality improvement activities, and

         23  to make use of public health interfaces.

         24                 Finally, practices must assume all

         25  ongoing costs after the two- year testing phase.
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          2  What do they get?  Licenses to the New York City

          3  Build of the electronic health record system that

          4  we've selected, eClinicalWorks.  Common interfaces

          5  will be included in this system, on- site training,

          6  quality improvement technical assistance and

          7  predictable low, ongoing maintenance and support

          8  costs, and this is critically important for

          9  sustainibility, on the order of $1,500 per provider

         10  per year.

         11                 In correctional health services,

         12  short- term stays are the norm, 28 percent of

         13  inmates leave in two to three days, and 52 percent

         14  leave within seven days.  There is a limited time to

         15  diagnose, to start treatment, and to ensure

         16  continuity of care.  We're currently using

         17  electronic intake system, and this assures limited

         18  access to patient records across incarcerations, the

         19  implementation of the electronic health record will

         20  make a significant difference to improving the care

         21  delivered at correctional health services.

         22                 Finally, linking in safety net

         23  providers to other systems of care, to correctional

         24  health, to HHC, to labs, health plans, and

         25  pharmacies, and to the RHIO's that were discussed.

                                                            39

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 So in conclusion, I would say, what

          3  are the key priorities for us looking ahead?

          4                 I think the IT infrastructure for

          5  safety net providers is a critical area of focus.

          6  You can't build a system on a shaky foundation.

          7  Assuring that that foundation is solid is critically

          8  important.  The second area where we think

          9  collaboration with the City Council could be

         10  incredibly helpful would be in terms of increasing

         11  outreach to small practices within the City Council

         12  member districts.

         13                 Finally, we need to move towards

         14  support for interoperable systems, systems that can

         15  speak to one another, that don't lock data into

         16  silos.

         17                 Thank you, glad to take any

         18  questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 I do apologize because I do have to

         22  leave.  I have a family emergency but before I leave

         23  I just wanted to state that one of the opportunities

         24  that you did not place was the fact that we will

         25  save trees.  That is a major opportunity and
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          2  benefit.

          3                 One of the questions I have, I think

          4  you touched on it, is that fact that the ongoing

          5  maintenance and operations of the technology is

          6  something that we're going to have to contend with,

          7  and was your figure $600,000 is going to be the

          8  ongoing per year?  Or what is the ongoing figure

          9  that we're looking at?

         10                 DR. MOSTASHARI:  There are a number

         11  of additional costs that get introduced with

         12  supportive electronic health record systems; the IT

         13  staff that are needed, and the maintenance and

         14  support costs for the software.

         15                 The electronic health record system

         16  that the Primary Care Information Project will be

         17  providing has relatively low ongoing maintenance and

         18  support costs for the soft ware, on the order of

         19  $1,500 per MD.  So, if it's a practice with ten

         20  providers, that's $15,000 a year.  But the total

         21  cost of implementing the system are far greater than

         22  that, and we really need to look towards changing

         23  financial incentive systems to support and sustain

         24  IT adoption.

         25                 I think we'll be hearing a lot more

                                                            41

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  about those kinds of projects moving ahead.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, and

          4  another statement is, I want to commend the

          5  Administration for being so steadfast on this.  This

          6  is obviously moving in the right direction and

          7  making sure that people get the type of medical

          8  attention they deserve.

          9                 The year that we saw that drastic

         10  spike, I think that was also the year we had a

         11  shortage citywide on the flu vaccine, was that

         12  because of this new technology?  Seriously, I think

         13  that this is something that we have to move forward

         14  with.               I see that you stated you wanted

         15  to have 1,000 private partners out there.

         16                 How many private practitioners within

         17  the City of New York?  Do we have that number?

         18                 DR. MOSTASHARI:  Our focus is primary

         19  care providers, so internal medicine, pediatrics,

         20  family practice, et cetera, who serve Medicaid and

         21  the uninsured, and the data that we have from the

         22  New York State Education Survey places that number

         23  at about 3,000 primary care practitioners who see

         24  greater than 30 percent Medicaid or uninsured,

         25  roughly.
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          2                 So, that's  --  1,000 is a

          3  significant but still finite part of the entire

          4  universe of need there.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, and I just

          6  also want to state PCDC took us on a tour of the

          7  Charles B. Rang (phonetic) facility a couple of

          8  months ago.  Most of us went there and took a tour,

          9  and the technology is phenomenal, it's light years

         10  ahead of where we should be, and I just think that

         11  that's the right direction.

         12                      So, at this point in time I do

         13  have to step aside but my colleague Gale Brewer is

         14  more than able to take it on from here.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         17  much, and we have lots of questions.

         18                 We've been joined by Council Members

         19  Mendez from Manhattan, Council Member James from

         20  Brooklyn, and Council Member deBlasio from Brooklyn.

         21                 Dr. Capponi, if you want to join us

         22  at the table so that all of you  --  and the first

         23  question because she has a time constraint is

         24  Council Member Dickens.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you so
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          2  much, Madam Chair, and thank you for your testimony

          3  because this is so important.

          4                 IT will certainly enable our City to

          5  benefit our citizens, to benefit from the health

          6  information that will be passed on.

          7                 Two quick questions.  One, in my

          8  district the Renaissance Healthcare Network, which

          9  is really a part of Harlem Hospital, how is that

         10  going to be made a part of the IT infrastructure?

         11                 DR. CAPPONI:  Well, as I mentioned in

         12  my testimony, just to sort of bring a little bit

         13  more light to that, we are internally in HHC trying

         14  to connect more and more of our hospitals and health

         15  centers in a way similar to what I described with

         16  the relationship between Bellevue and Gouverneur, so

         17  I was at Gouverneur that day, but I was able to see

         18  information at Bellevue Renaissance Network

         19  facilities are connected to several hospitals, and

         20  certainly the Harlem Hospital to Renaissance

         21  connection is available, and getting people to be

         22  able to access both sides of the Electronic Medical

         23  Records so that when patients go from Renaissance to

         24  Harlem Hospital, either for in patient care or for

         25  specialty care, that that information is available
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          2  to the providers when they go back to Renaissance.

          3                 But what we're really looking at is

          4  much more fluid and dynamic exchange of data, so

          5  Renaissance sits in an area with many hospitals and

          6  many ambulatory care facilities, some of which are

          7  HHC's, but many of which are not, and we know that

          8  our patient population is pretty mobile.  They move

          9  throughout the City, and so, a patient may have

         10  gotten two years of primary care in one part of the

         11  City, and then moved to another borough.

         12                 The vision with all of these data

         13  exchange projects is to incrementally make more and

         14  more of that information available so that no matter

         15  which system the patients' in, their information

         16  will be made available to whoever is treating them

         17  at that particular point in time, and that's the

         18  vision we're going to with all of the projects that

         19  were talked about today.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Now, just to

         21  piggyback for a minute on Council Member Rivera's

         22  statement about the upkeep cost, and the cost of

         23  implementation of the system, how is that going to

         24  impact on say the Renaissance versus a primary care,

         25  such as say, Harlem Hospital?
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          2                 DR. CAPPONI:  Well at HHC, we

          3  approached the budget  --  when I started two- and-

          4  a- half years ago, one of my personal visions was to

          5  really make sure that from a technology perspective,

          6  that the tools that any of our providers had, no

          7  matter where they were in the HHC system, were the

          8  same.  They were the same in the level of

          9  development, they were the same  --  just like if

         10  you were a surgeon, you would have sponges and

         11  scalpels no matter which OR you went to, our

         12  community health centers should have the same tools

         13  from a technological perspective as they have at the

         14  acute care hospitals.

         15                 We use the same product throughout

         16  our system, and we're making sure that that product

         17  is developed to the same level.  So, we utilize

         18  staffs that are based at the network level, and at

         19  the corporate level to try to make sure, for

         20  example, when we implemented the asthma action plans

         21  and the depression screening instruments, we did

         22  that across the board. We didn't just do that at the

         23  acute care hospitals, and we made sure that the

         24  ambulatory care centers were trained and given the

         25  access to the functionality just as much as the
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          2  others.  We also monitor those facilities the same

          3  way we monitor the acute cares.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  And last

          5  question, and maybe you can't answer this but

          6  Council Member Brewer has brought up about death

          7  certificates.  Is this going to be on web, because

          8  the other is on a secure web- based portal, is this

          9  going to be the same thing for the death

         10  certificates?

         11                 DR. MOSTASHARI:  We can find out for

         12  you and get back to you with the exact--

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  All right,

         14  because I have concerns about  --  because if a

         15  death certificate indicates AIDS/HIV-related, how is

         16  that going to impact?

         17                 So, would you be able to get back to

         18  my Chair with the information because I'm really

         19  concerned.  That'll help me to make a decision about

         20  this as concerning the death certificates.

         21                 MS. COHEN:  We can certainly get the

         22  information that we have available to you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Madam Chair,

         24  is that all right?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  It's a long
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          2  story, yes, that's a good start.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Okay, thank

          4  you, and I apologize I must leave to go to another

          5  committee meeting.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Council Member

          7  Sears.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you

          9  Madam Chair.

         10                 I just have a statement before I ask

         11  one or two questions, and they're very brief.

         12                 The Speaker, we have this hospital

         13  task force for the City Council, and one of the

         14  proposals that we had, one of the 20 and I chair

         15  that task force, is the emphasis on primary care

         16  development.  That you just can't close a hospital

         17  but you need to certainly look at how you keep the

         18  resources in that community, and that is the

         19  restructuring of health care.  So, not every

         20  hospital needs to be an acute care facility, and HHC

         21  is certainly doing well with that.

         22                 I am one of the 14,000 that has a

         23  Smart Card.  So, I have some  --  which I don't know

         24  the answer to that because the Smart Card is the way

         25  to go.
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          2                 Is a Smart Card used, or developed,

          3  for those patients that are recurring patients in

          4  the facility, or is it the hope that everyone who is

          5  admitted to the hospital has a Smart Card?

          6                 DR. CAPPONI:  Let me start with that.

          7    Smart Card technology is really evolving, and I

          8  think part of the  --  even though it sounds like a

          9  lot of cards, 14,000 and another 40,000, it's not a

         10  lot from a pilot perspective, and I think what we

         11  aim to do is really learn`where does Smart Card

         12  technology fit in the overall picture of Health

         13  Information Technology?'

         14                 It's certainly not going to replace

         15  the other systems that we're putting in place to

         16  make information affordable across domains.  But, it

         17  will provide some limited data sets.  So that if

         18  somebody doesn't have access to an interconnected

         19  network of hospital information systems, they would

         20  at least have a minimum data set that they could  --

         21    let's say they were traveling, where they were at

         22  a hospital that  -- who's information system was

         23  down, or who wasn't as I said connected, they would

         24  be able to dip this card in and get some basic

         25  information that would assist the clinicians in
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          2  taking care of them at that point in time.

          3                 So, I think it remains to be seen

          4  exactly how Smart Card technology will evolve in

          5  this overall picture.

          6                 The other area that we're hearing a

          7  lot about is this question about identifying

          8  patients appropriately, and that's a very important,

          9  although it seems rather rudimentary, the most

         10  important thing that we can do when we start to

         11  initiate care at any point in time with a patient,

         12  is make sure we have the right patient in front of

         13  us.  So many times we hear about situations where

         14  the wrong patient got operated on, or the wrong

         15  patient was prescribed a medication, and we

         16  certainly want to make sure that, and we're doing a

         17  lot of work I know at HHC around that issue of

         18  patient identification.  A Smart Card can assist in

         19  that because it will have information that's

         20  standardized in terms of formatting.

         21                 For example, we have many patients

         22  who come from different parts of the world and in

         23  different parts of the world, the month and the day

         24  are reversed and when you write out a date, and so

         25  people come to us, and they tell us a birth date,
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          2  but the birth date is actually instead of September

          3  3rd, it's March 9th, and a Smart Card can give us

          4  some assistance in bridging some of those variations

          5  by having that information available electronically

          6  you can dip that and rely on a little bit more

          7  consistent information, particularly in areas where

          8  patients are challenged with language, and we do a

          9  lot of work around language competencies but it's

         10  still a difficult job for a clerk to navigate around

         11  languages and a Smart Card can help there as well.

         12                 Finally, I think the enormity of  --

         13  and the complexity of medical care  --  it's very

         14  difficult for a lot of patients to understand.  Not

         15  because of education, just because the language is

         16  different, and having some information available on

         17  a Smart Card can help, I think, with understanding

         18  that information.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I understand

         20  that.  It would seem that  --  because a Smart Card

         21  is very expensive, in fact IT is, and I'm not

         22  certain, I'm going to leave that to the chair of the

         23  committee because my colleague does a wonderful job

         24  but, it would seem that there should be a master

         25  plan, certainly for the City of New York, as to what
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          2  agencies are going to link up with what agencies,

          3  and the technology that is used to do that.

          4                 One would be the objective to have

          5  government more efficient than it is because

          6  certainly it lacks efficiency in some areas, only

          7  due to the speed of which things get done and one

          8  agency not communicating with another.  But there's

          9  a huge cost to doing that, and it would seem to me

         10  that some of the cost of IT and I ask about with a

         11  master plan because some of this maintenance cost

         12  should be baselined if this City is going to have

         13  IT, it seems that what should be automatic in that

         14  in our budget each year, is that the agencies should

         15  look at what is necessary, and for all of us to go

         16  to bat for baselining that because with IT it's an

         17  ongoing thing, and I don't know if that's in your

         18  thinking.

         19                 So, it's really a comment and a

         20  question at the same time.  I don't  know if that's

         21  part of the dynamics of what you really are planning

         22  to do, which is very commendable, and it's a lot,

         23  but it seems to me that to ask the City Council, and

         24  I'm saying that you are, but for us to have to add

         25  certain things to that is all right, and we should
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          2  be adding that to amenities.

          3                 This is an ongoing  --  maintenance

          4  for IT and the cost for IT is ongoing, it's not

          5  where we can infuse money sometimes and then not do

          6  it.  So, it seems that this is a critical part of

          7  being baselined where what you need to do is just

          8  include it in that budget every year.

          9                 Also, I have another question.  You

         10  talked about the number of patients that you have

         11  dealing with diabetes and other problems, and you

         12  say that with the technology, that all of your

         13  providers could now use the powerful tool to produce

         14  more positive health outcomes.

         15                 When you say providers, are you

         16  talking about those that are either in the  --  on

         17  staff at your primary care facilities, or are you

         18  talking about those that are in the HHC facilities?

         19                 DR. CAPPONI:  We're talking about

         20  those in our HHC primary care facilities, yes

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay.

         22                 DR. CAPPONI:  Either hospital- based

         23  or community based.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  All right.

         25                 Now it would seem that for doing the
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          2  technology that we wish to have, it really needs a

          3  master plan, and I know that our Chair has been  --

          4  she is the wonderful thorn that the City Council

          5  has, and I have to put it that way.  Because, when

          6  we get in budget negotiating, she is right there not

          7  forgetting what it takes to do that, but I also

          8  understand the complexities of IT, and I feel like

          9  we're infusing here and we're infusing there,

         10  without having the overall picture of exactly where

         11  are we leading it to, not just to provide  --

         12  because healthcare is being restructured all over,

         13  and some of your proposals that were in there are

         14  certainly incorporated in the proposals that we

         15  submitted to the Berger Commission at the time when

         16  they were doing that.

         17                 So, I'd like to see more focus, Madam

         18  Chair, on developing that master plan because the

         19  government is known to put band- aids on things, and

         20  they've always gotten into trouble because of that.

         21  I think that we have an opportunity to not do that,

         22  and to somehow take the vision long- range and begin

         23  to implement this in stages, so that by year- X or

         24  whatever, we're able to accomplish that.

         25                 Does that make sense to you?
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          2                 DR. CAPPONI:  Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay, thank

          4  you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 Council Member Stewart, then

          8  deBlasio, and then Mendez.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

         10  Madam Chair.

         11                 I want to go back to the problem of

         12  access.  I am concerned about the privacy problem,

         13  and we know that the Federal government and the

         14  State, they have laws to deal with privacy.  I am

         15  concerned about that, how are you going to be able

         16  to protect and still maintain the laws?  That was

         17  the first concern I have.

         18                 The second concern I have is the

         19  problem of identity theft.  Being having the access

         20  and by everybody having access to get this

         21  information, I'm concerned about the identity theft

         22  now.

         23                 Then we're going to the other problem

         24  that I have, I know you talk about most of this will

         25  be instituted at HHC but those primary care

                                                            55

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  physicians, those physicians that are in a community

          3  that will have access that will be able to link up,

          4  I'm concerned about whether it's going to be some

          5  sort of a standardized program that they would have

          6  to use, and the kind of equipment that they will

          7  have to use to access this information, and what is

          8  compatible, and all of those things.  Those are some

          9  of my concerns I have also.

         10                 How long are we expecting to really

         11  put all of this in place?

         12                 If you can really address some of

         13  those, I'll be grateful.

         14                 DR. CAPPONI:  Sure, why don't I start

         15  with the first two, and then I can turn it over to

         16  my colleagues at DOH for comment on the second two

         17  questions.

         18                 Privacy is a number one concern for

         19  all of us as we endeavor, and there has been a lot

         20  of focused attention, and there will continue to be

         21  a lot of focused attention in this area because it's

         22  very, very important, and you're absolutely right.

         23  It's complex, there are Federal laws as you point

         24  out, State laws, those laws are not in alignment.

         25  There are concerns about high- risk groups.  You
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          2  mentioned  --  someone mentioned HIV earlier as well

          3  as behavioral health, substance abuse, all those

          4  issues need to be addressed as we begin to roll out

          5  this technology.

          6                 The axis question just to provide a

          7  little bit of additional information, when we talk

          8  about systems being available, that doesn't

          9  necessarily mean they're accessible to everyone.

         10  Each person that's accessing one of these systems

         11  has to have an ID, has to have a password, has to

         12  have been given or granted permission to use the

         13  system, and while those are imperfect also, those

         14  are certainly baseline foundations that we use to

         15  guide our access policies within HHC, as well as

         16  dealing and applying the rules that are embedded in

         17  HIPAA for example, the Health Insurance Portability

         18  and Accountability Act, there are lots of

         19  regulations around information privacy, how to

         20  access records, who can access records, what kinds

         21  of reviews of record access that we do.  There's a

         22  lot going on there, and again, in the Regional

         23  Health Information Exchange, RHIO, structures that

         24  are evolving, I think this question comes up pretty

         25  much at every meeting.  It's something that I'm  --
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          2  you know, on the one hand it's a daunting task, but

          3  on the other hand, I think, we're starting to see

          4  the consumers understanding this a little bit more,

          5  and I think that's really going to help us drive in

          6  the right direction because ultimately, it's the

          7  patients health information, and they need to

          8  understand what's happening to that information.

          9  They need to be able to feel comfortable that their

         10  information is being used by their providers

         11  appropriately.

         12                 The identify theft issue is an issue

         13  that I think is certainly prominent in the news.  We

         14  haven't seen, at least examples that I'm familiar

         15  with, of identify theft based on stealing somebody's

         16  identity because they had medical information but

         17  it's certainly something that could happen.

         18                 I think more important is making sure

         19  that our staffs aren't having access to information

         20  that they don't need for the purposes of taking care

         21  of that patient.  We are continuously refining our

         22  policies as we roll out more systems to make sure

         23  that staffs are only seeing the things that they

         24  need to see, are only looking at patients that are

         25  assigned to them. That's sometimes difficult, and
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          2  sometimes is a barrier, for example, if you have an

          3  emergency room and you have physicians there, it's

          4  hard to limit them accessing the records, but

          5  they're professionals, they have licenses and they

          6  have responsibilities under the medical staff.  But

          7  certainly, we can limit access for different roles.

          8                 So for example, a clerical staff

          9  member doesn't have access to the same amount of

         10  information that a nurse or a doctor would.  There's

         11  no need for them to have access to all the

         12  additional information.  They need access to just

         13  the details of the medical record that they have to

         14  work in, which is usually demographics and things

         15  about insurance and their appointments and so forth.

         16                 It is a challenging area, and it's an

         17  area that will continue to deserve additional

         18  attention, and I believe that we can use the help of

         19  all aspects of government to help us understand the

         20  rules, understand where the rules and the

         21  regulations don't necessarily line up and how we can

         22  move this agenda forward with the sole objective of

         23  taking better care of the patients.

         24                 DR. MOSTASHARI:  Privacy and security

         25  are absolute priorities for Health Information
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          2  Technology.  In the City Health Information

          3  Newsletter, we have a highlighted section on privacy

          4  and security requirements for electronic health

          5  records that primary care providers would procure

          6  making sure that they do purchase systems and select

          7  systems that have features that can help protect

          8  patient privacy.  Things like documenting

          9  electronically patient consents and privacy

         10  notifications, role based access, as Dr. Capponi

         11  mentioned, so that people have access to the

         12  information that their role requires them to have

         13  access to, data encryption, so that even if the

         14  piece of equipment is stolen or lost that that

         15  patient information is not compromised, and

         16  importantly, audit trails.

         17                 If in that medical room that I showed

         18  someone opens up a paper chart, looks at

         19  information, flips through, closes it back up again,

         20  there's no record of that having happened.  In

         21  electronic health record, a properly designed

         22  electronic health record system, however, every time

         23  someone who's logged in with their password, with

         24  their user ID, every viewing of every page is

         25  maintained in an audit trail that can be used to
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          2  ensure, both preventing people doing that because

          3  they know that their tracks are being observed, but

          4  also to be able to appropriately take corrective

          5  action, and disciplinary action when indicated.

          6                 I should also mention that the

          7  Administration is a supporter of New York State

          8  Assembly Member Linda Rosenthal's bill, A- 621,

          9  which would increase penalties for tampering with

         10  computer materials, including records of medical

         11  history, and the Council might consider urging

         12  passage of this law with a resolution.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I just have

         14  one last follow up.

         15                 Based on what you just said, could

         16  you comment on how do we protect from consultants

         17  who are doctors that work, maybe a consultant for an

         18  insurance company, that may be providing the

         19  information to the insurance company as to whether

         20  the person is insured or et cetera, because with

         21  this information, with all of this information, it

         22  means that the insurance company can then deny

         23  insurance.  If they didn't have this information,

         24  which would be limited, it means that person might

         25  have been able to get insurance.
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          2                 I don't know if you want to comment

          3  on that because that's another side of it that we

          4  did not look into.  We are only talking about

          5  doctors dealing with patients, but the information

          6  that is there can be used in other forms, and they

          7  are direct links in terms of the insurance and the

          8  doctors who are practicing, and they can get

          9  information on somebody else which they may not have

         10  had other than with this IT system.

         11                 DR. CAPPONI:  If I understand what

         12  you're saying, you're talking about physicians who

         13  may also be working for insurance companies?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Yes.

         15                 DR. CAPPONI:  Okay, well anybody that

         16  would abuse their privilege to look at medical

         17  records and then divulge that information to an

         18  insurance company without authorization of the

         19  patient would be acting contrary to policies and

         20  procedures, would be acting contrary, I think, to

         21  the Federal law, and should prosecuted to the full

         22  extent of the law.

         23                 I mean, it's a crime at that point.

         24  So, taking that  --  I think that that's, I think

         25  there are mechanisms to deal with situations like
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          2  that.

          3                 The issue about just general access

          4  to electronic data, and insurance companies, we have

          5  policies and procedures in place to make sure that

          6  we send bills only to the appropriate agencies.

          7  Those bills contain information about diagnoses, and

          8  we have been doing that electronically for many,

          9  many years.  We don't release that information to

         10  people other than the people that it's intended to

         11  go to.  We transmit that information electronically

         12  in a secure manner, we establish relationships, we

         13  have business associate agreements which formalize

         14  what the responsibilities and the roles are between

         15  us and the people who are  --  health insurance

         16  companies that are paying the bills or health plans

         17  that the patients are enrolled in.

         18                 So I think that there's a fair amount

         19  of experience with that.  We have also had the

         20  experience with HIV of dealing with the real

         21  concerns about information being misused with regard

         22  to insurance and insurability.  That's true for

         23  many, many diseases and it certainly has taught us a

         24  lot of lessons, and I think we've done a lot with

         25  that and I don't view the electronic nature as
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          2  different than paper.  I think the same principles

          3  apply.  The risk is higher, and that's why we have

          4  to put in place the structures and the controls that

          5  my colleagues have more eloquently than I

          6  articulated, but I don't think the fundamental

          7  issues are different.  The people that should not

          8  have access to that information, shouldn't have

          9  access to it regardless of whether it's electronic

         10  or not.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Council Member

         12  DeBlasio.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO:  Thank you,

         14  Madam Chair.

         15                 First of all I want to note, I

         16  appreciate Helen Sears comment about you.  I think

         17  calling you a wonderful thorn is very, very apropos,

         18  especially the wonderful part, but we appreciate how

         19  you kept the fire burning on a lot of these issues,

         20  and I just want to say at the outset, I want to

         21  commend and thank my friend Louise Cohen who it now

         22  has been 20 years I have been working off and on

         23  with Louise in different capacities, and really

         24  appreciate her good work.

         25                 All of this presentation, I think
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          2  particularly your recommendations are  --  that you

          3  and PCDC put together are very eye opening, and kind

          4  of remind us how far we have to go. So, I appreciate

          5  how straight forward those are.

          6                 My question is simply and actually

          7  Council Member Mendez sparked this question.  As you

          8  may know, we have been doing a lot of work in the

          9  Council lately on child abuse questions, and one of

         10  the things we did, in fact, I had the opportunity to

         11  talk with Commissioner Frieden about it, was we've

         12  tried to join the Administration in really

         13  emphasizing the role of mandated reporters, at the

         14  same time was trying to help the general public

         15  understand better its ability to report anything

         16  that might be an important lead in terms of trying

         17  to protect a child.

         18                 The information itself that you have,

         19  obviously, sometimes could tell us important things

         20  about what's happening to a child and Council Member

         21  Mendez was saying in some cases, tragically, a

         22  family will literally move from health provider to

         23  health provider trying to avoid detection.  So

         24  totally taking into account confidentiality, and in

         25  no way trying to be alarmist, I asked the sober
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          2  question, in addition to mandated reporting of an

          3  obvious incident or moment, is there any way in

          4  which you look for trends or make information

          5  available for example of ACS's investigating a case

          6  to see if there is a pattern of overtly moving from

          7  provider to provider, possibly to avoid detection?

          8                 DR. MOSTASHARI:  It's a very good

          9  question.

         10                 The obvious balance is between

         11  protecting privacy broadly, and making data

         12  available from systems as required by law.  So, I

         13  think this particular issue, I don't think that it

         14  has been completely worked out.

         15                 The main principle, however, for

         16  health information exchange is that the patient

         17  needs to consent to that flow of that information.

         18                 So, I think we have to be mindful

         19  that we operate within the law.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO:  No, I

         21  appreciate that and it's not only a complex issue,

         22  this is a particularly subtle point within it, but I

         23  just want to maybe leave it with you for further

         24  thought.

         25                 One thing that came up in the
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          2  hearings that we've had with the General Welfare

          3  Committee on the question of how ACS caseworkers

          4  pursue their work is there are some areas of

          5  information that any of us might have thought

          6  obvious where agencies would share information until

          7  recently, until a few years ago for example, ACS and

          8  DHS were not necessarily sharing information when

          9  people went into shelter in an ideal fashion.

         10                 ACS and the police, I think, are

         11  coordinating much better but, for example, to this

         12  moment I think it's been documented an ACS worker

         13  can go into a home to investigate but won't know if

         14  there's a domestic violence  --  if there's any

         15  order of protection or any other activity around  --

         16    police records around domestic violence because

         17  they aren't authorized to have that information.

         18                 So, I think we're all grappling with

         19  where do you draw that line?

         20                 I, for one, would say, and I believe

         21  in civil liberties intensely, but if a caseworker is

         22  going alone into a dynamic that could be dangerous

         23  to try and protect a child, I'm willing to relax

         24  certain standards to make sure he or she has the

         25  information they need.  That's just an opinion.
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          2                 I guess I'm saying if you would look

          3  at this issue to see are there some triggers, not so

          4  much wholesale opening of the books, but are there

          5  some triggers that should lead to looking at

          6  patterns, information, and second, if ACS did need

          7  information to investigate a case, how accessible or

          8  what clear procedure is there for that now because I

          9  think we're all learning how much time matters in

         10  these cases.  So even while respecting

         11  confidentiality, when is it appropriate to share,

         12  and maybe if you could look into that, and we could

         13  follow up with you.

         14                 Thank you, thank you Madam Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Council Member

         16  Mendez.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  I have some

         18  questions about the Smart Cards.

         19                 Right now that's being used only in

         20  Queens?

         21                 DR. CAPPONI:  I believe so, yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  Are we

         23  thinking of using that in the other boroughs, or is

         24  that going to be expanded?

         25                 DR. CAPPONI:  I think the pilot will
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          2  give us some more information, and as we roll this

          3  out over the next two years, we will fine tune some

          4  of the work flows that are involved, get feedback,

          5  certainly from consumers of the Smart Card to see

          6  how it's affecting their experience of health care,

          7  and then look at some of the cost issues and the

          8  maintenance issues, and see if it makes sense for us

          9  to move forward with that technology.  But it's

         10  certainly a technology that's been used to, not so

         11  much in the United States, but in Europe and we'll

         12  be interested to see how this pilot goes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  The Smart

         14  Card has all the electronic information that the

         15  provider would have?

         16                 DR. CAPPONI:  No, it just has key

         17  components of the medical record.

         18                 So for example, it might have the

         19  most recent electrocardiogram or EKG.  It might have

         20  a list of medications. It might have a list of

         21  diagnosis.  It might have allergies. Just some key

         22  information that any provider that had access to a

         23  card reader would get a head start on treating that

         24  patient.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  I see.  So,
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          2  you mentioned earlier that it's encrypted in case

          3  it's lost that information can't be retrieved by

          4  another individual, but if someone should loose it,

          5  that information then is easily duplicated to give

          6  the individual another Smart Card?

          7                 DR. CAPPONI:  Yes, the information

          8  comes from an Electronic Medical Record or

          9  electronic data base.  So, what would have to

         10  happen, and again, these are the work flows that

         11  would be worked out, is the person would seek a

         12  replacement card from the most recent care giver who

         13  would have the most up- to date information, and

         14  they would just issue them a new card when they

         15  provided evidence of identity.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  I just have

         17  another question.

         18                 I am a proud patient over at

         19  Gouverneur Healthcare Services.  My primary care

         20  physician is there, and prior to that for two years,

         21  I didn't have insurance, and then prior to that I

         22  had a private doctor in a private hospital.  So,

         23  they had all their records electronically, and I was

         24  there for about ten years or so.  So, if I wanted to

         25  get those records, and now have my new healthcare
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          2  provider at Gouverneur have access to all that, can

          3  that be done with  --  like I could go to my old

          4  primary care physician, sign some documents, and

          5  make sure that that information is forwarded to my

          6  new physician in order to expedite information and

          7  my health consumer needs?

          8                 DR. CAPPONI:  Recently, the

          9  certification commission on, CCHIT, Health

         10  Information Technology, which is a Standards

         11  Committee has devised something called a Continuity

         12  of Care Record, which is a standard format that is

         13  supposed to be able to read information from one

         14  record and transmit in the same order, in the same

         15  structure, into a new Electronic Medical Record.

         16  So, that's evolving.

         17                 Right now, that standard only applies

         18  to outpatient systems.  That standard we anticipate

         19  will apply to all medical records, and Electronic

         20  Medical Records going forward will have to conform

         21  to that system.  So, while we can't do that today,

         22  we anticipate that you will be able to do that  --

         23  that that portability with the Continuity of Care

         24  Record would allow you to transmit key information

         25  from one Electronic Medical Record to a completely
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          2  different vendor Electronic Medical Record.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  You said we

          4  cant' do that today.

          5                 Do we anticipate when you would be

          6  able to do that?

          7                 DR. CAPPONI:  I am not a betting man,

          8  but I would say, we've seen actually quite dramatic

          9  movement in this area. It's been the number one, I

         10  think, sore spot for all of us, this issue that Dr.

         11  Mostashari mentioned about interoperability. That's

         12  a real impediment to us connecting providers, and

         13  also to permitting the continuity of information

         14  from one system to another.

         15                 I believe that the vendors have

         16  finally figured that out, and are working more

         17  productively with a lot of these national efforts to

         18  move towards standards.

         19                 I think it'll be several years before

         20  this is a non- issue, but I certainly think that in

         21  the next few years, two to three years, we'll be

         22  making pretty good progress, particularly on the

         23  ambulatory care side.

         24                 It's probably five years before we

         25  have standards that are in place and rolled out on
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          2  the acute care side and long term care side.  Those

          3  are in evolution right now.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  Let me just

          5  mention one little, I don't know if it's a glitch,

          6  but I recently had knee surgery and I've gained

          7  weight, and so every time I've gone in I've gotten

          8  weighed, and it gets entered into the system as

          9  pounds but then it gets converted into grams.  So,

         10  Dr. Hanley was able to tell me, "Well, you've gained

         11  weight but I can't tell how much because we didn't

         12  have the time to do the conversion and figure out

         13  how much weight you've actually gained."

         14                 Is there a way to tweak the system so

         15  that at an instant she could have done the

         16  conversion right there?

         17                 DR. CAPPONI:  There is a way to look

         18  at that. I was at Gouverneur for ten years, and I

         19  know Dr. Hanley very well. I will point it out to

         20  her.  But yes, there is a way.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  Can you point

         22  it out by Friday, I'm going to be there, so.

         23                 DR. CAPPONI:  I absolutely shall,

         24  yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  Thank you
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          2  very much.

          3                 DR. CAPPONI:  They do a conversion,

          4  and the reason they do the conversion it because a

          5  lot of calculations of medication doses are based on

          6  kilograms and metric system, not pounds.  But

          7  there's  --  obviously you should be able to see

          8  both, so I'll follow up with Dr. Hanley.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  Thank you.

         10                 DR. CAPPONI:  You have a great doctor

         11  by the way.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Those were great

         13  questions.

         14                 Sort of picking up on Council Member

         15  Sears and Council Member Mendez, I guess on the

         16  master plan.

         17                 So, what is driving this notion, or

         18  this good notion, that the vendors and the platform

         19  will be able to be portable and inoperable (sic).

         20  Is it the Federal government, is it the most recent

         21   --  whatever the acronym that you used.

         22                 How is it being driven?

         23                 DR. MOSTASHARI:  The Federal

         24  government has focused on standards, and

         25  interoperability as a first step.  I think that was
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          2  an appropriate decision for them.

          3                 There has been a structure put in

          4  place with the American Health Information

          5  community, AHIC, chaired by Secretary Levitt

          6  (phonetic).  There are standards setting bodies,

          7  standards harmonization bodies, prototype

          8  implementations, for the national to create

          9  ultimately a National Health Information Network,

         10  and I don't think we can overstate how important

         11  that's going to be for all the states and

         12  municipalities to be following along with.

         13                 So, when Dr. Capponi talks about

         14  following the Certification Commission for Health

         15  Information Technology recommendations, I think that

         16  is absolutely essential that we kind of are in line

         17  with those.

         18                 One of the other things that they

         19  have done is recognizing state variances, they have

         20  set up, and I think there's going to be more

         21  activity in the next year or two in that direction,

         22  is also setting up state level bodies to conform

         23  state laws, for example, and state approaches and

         24  community standards to help create this National

         25  Health Information Network, and New York State is
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          2  beginning that process as well around privacy and

          3  security, but I think there are also going to be

          4  first, but I think they're also going to be  --  as

          5  these standards become more accepted and more

          6  finalized, it is going to become more and more a

          7  part of things like the HEAL NY funding and

          8  certainly the City funding should be.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So is there an

         10  unfunded mandate here?  Or is this something that is

         11  being worked up? Obviously, we all have the same

         12  goal, but it's complicated.  You have different

         13  platforms, you've got different data bases, you've

         14  got a lot of obstacles.

         15                 DR. MOSTASHARI:  Yes, the approach is

         16  the  --  and I think again, it's the right approach,

         17  is to make it market driven.

         18                 So, if the word is out that you have

         19  to be PCHIC certified for me to consider you as a

         20  vendor, the vendors will put the resources into

         21  becoming PCHIC certified because it's demand driven

         22  rather than by dictot (phonetic).

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Let me just ask

         24  you, as Chair of the Technology Committee, we've

         25  been meeting with EDC, Economic Development
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          2  Corporation, there is a push in this City to try to

          3  have some kind of fiber broadband wireless, last

          4  mile, last foot, there are many different more

          5  acronyms here, but the fact of the matter is I think

          6  you know what we're trying to achieve.  We're not

          7  Philadelphia.  We're not San Francisco.  What is the

          8  New York model?

          9                 So, as we speak EDC is looking at

         10  these issues, hired a very good consultant, in order

         11  to be master plan and to have this kind of

         12  interoperability you need the fiber.

         13                 So, is that something that should

         14  exist both for the institutions and then the

         15  patients?  The patients go home, we'd love to have

         16  them access their own records, et cetera.

         17                 So, I'm just wondering  --  we're

         18  delighted you're doing this because we want EDC to

         19  realize the importance of what I consider, sort of,

         20  a general broadband, that's a very over- used word

         21  but you know, something that people can access

         22  inexpensively, fast, et cetera?

         23                 But have you been thinking about

         24  this?  The home issue is a big one, it's not

         25  something that you have to worry about, but if
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          2  you're going to have informed patients, particularly

          3  in some of the underserved areas, how have you been

          4  thinking about that?

          5                 DR. MOSTASHARI:  Very good points.

          6  Very, very important issues, particularly as we talk

          7  as health information exchange and things like web-

          8  based applications and application service provider

          9  driven systems become more prevalent for doctors

         10  offices, having reliable network, high throughput, a

         11  guaranteed up and down network connection becomes

         12  critical, and that is one of the bottle- necks, and

         13  one of the infrastructure issues that is going to be

         14  absolutely critical to be addressed.

         15                 So, I'll say yes, absolutely on that,

         16  and that's also oftentimes a time constraint issue.

         17  So, it can take weeks and weeks and weeks and weeks

         18  before a broadband connection, a

         19  T- 1 line can be set up.  So, that is absolutely a

         20  need.

         21                 On the home side, one of the real

         22  potentials for a truly integrated electronic health

         23  record is the personal health record component of

         24  this, and all the tools for patient self management,

         25  many of which have been really pioneered in New York
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          2  City.

          3                 So, where there are some recent

          4  statistics that show us more people than one might

          5  think, even in underserved communities have access

          6  to the Internet, use the Internet, and to be able to

          7  provide universal Internet access would be a great

          8  public good.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  We're working on

         10  it. You're welcome to contact EDC, too.

         11                 The issue of redundancy, I know in

         12  terms of the risk factor, you talked about that as

         13  sort of a concern.  So, obviously, that is something

         14  that PCDC is working on, I'm sure you are but and so

         15  is DoITT, and so is the Department of Education, and

         16  so on, 911.

         17                 How have you thought about the  --

         18  you've got the redundancy of everything, records,

         19  Upstate, maybe you want to put them  --  I don't

         20  know.  It's expensive, too.

         21                 How are you thinking about

         22  redundancy, both HHC and citywide.

         23                 DR. MOSTASHARI:  So, it is absolutely

         24  one of the issues that will be part of the

         25  infrastructure needs for the health centers that
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          2  PCDC will be speaking about and the City Council

          3  infrastructure would be a great use of it to ensure

          4  that the  --  it is one of the risks, that when the

          5  system goes down, there needs to be an ability to

          6  quickly have fail- overs and to make sure that data

          7  is not lost.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And HHC, how do

          9  you deal with redundancy?

         10                 DR. CAPPONI:  Well, our core clinical

         11  information systems currently have, I'm not a

         12   "techie" per se, so I'll just try to explain what I

         13  understand of this.

         14                 Basically, there are mirror data

         15  bases for the online medical records, so there are

         16  two copies running simultaneously.  We're in the

         17  middle of a data center consolidation where we're

         18  going to increase the robustness of our data

         19  centers.  We have a lot of data centers around the

         20  corporation.  We're going to reduce the number, and

         21  increase their capacity, and those two data centers

         22  will be at a physical distance from one another so

         23  the real time, live- live backups will be occurring

         24  in different boroughs.  So if one borough goes down,

         25  the other borough will be up.  We've created a
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          2  tiered system to make sure that the most critical

          3  information systems are at the highest level of

          4  redundancy to that really, the user, if one of the

          5  boxes goes down, doesn't experience any change or

          6  interruption in service.

          7                 For some of the less critical

          8  applications, the support applications, we have

          9  lower tiers which are less expensive and makes sense

         10  for the type of applications that those boxes

         11  support.

         12                 We also, on the Internet side, we're

         13  sure to have pipes, so to speak, coming into

         14  different parts of the building, running down

         15  different parts of the City, and those are important

         16  to maintain, and we were fortunate, I think, at HHC

         17  to have a very good wide area network.  It's

         18  actually very good compared to some of the other

         19  health care facilities or integrated delivery

         20  systems I've been to.  But, there's always  --

         21  always want to have more redundancy, and then the

         22  issues about off-site distance archiving, we

         23  certainly archive on tape at distances now, in case

         24  there is some kind of catastrophic event.

         25  Eventually that will move to electronic archiving,
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          2  and data is getting cheaper and cheaper so we think

          3  that when we get to that point we'll be in a good

          4  position.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Just one last

          6  question.  I know that the police department, fire

          7  department, first responders, through DoITT, it's a

          8  large effort, are working with a wireless system,

          9  some fiber, to make sure that when the fire

         10  department goes to a fire, there's a map of the

         11  building, it's sort of a GIS situation, et cetera,

         12  same with the police department, information in the

         13  car, the list goes on.

         14                 First responders, when they call now

         15  paramedics to the emergency rooms, do they have any

         16  information about the patient?  In other words, this

         17  notion of from the home to the hospital, more

         18  information for the emergency, first responders? Is

         19  that something that's being worked on

         20  electronically?

         21                 DR. CAPPONI:  Not that I'm aware of

         22  currently, but it's an idea that I've heard before,

         23  and certainly, fits in very well with the overall

         24  concepts of what we're trying to do, which is bring

         25  information where it's necessary.
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          2                 Wireless is another level of security

          3  that starting to tackle. We're doing it internally

          4  first within the confines of a health center where

          5  you have more control, but wireless devices and

          6  access to this Electronic Medical Record set is

          7  certainly in our future, and I think it's going to,

          8  again, be powerful when it's finally in place.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Something with

         10  the Smart Cards could perhaps with the screen be

         11  used for, okay.

         12                 I want to thank you for this

         13  excellent panel.  I think Jessica Borwork (phonetic)

         14  had something to do with it too. I just want to

         15  throw that out.

         16                 Thank you very much because both DOH

         17  and certainly HHC, you should feel very proud of the

         18  work that you've accomplished in IT.  Thank you.

         19                 DR. MOSTASHARI:  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Our next panel

         21  is Ronda Kotelchuck and Debra Zahn from PCDC, and

         22  Heleen Koppell.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  You may start,

         24  and just give your name for the record, and it's

         25  good to see you again.
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          2                 MS. KOTELCHUCK:  Indeed, indeed, I'm

          3  Ronda Kotelchuck.  I am the Executive Director of

          4  the Primary Care Development Corporation.

          5                 I also want to introduce Helene

          6  Koppell, my colleague, who runs our IT programs at

          7  PCDC.

          8                 I'd like to introduce Melissa Corado

          9  (phonetic), who's sitting on the side who runs many

         10  things, but including our emergency preparedness

         11  program.

         12                 So, I want to thank you for the

         13  opportunity to talk about the importance of IT to

         14  primary care providers in the primary care sector.

         15                 Many things have been said of

         16  profound importance before we were on, but I just

         17  want to make a few observations.             Number

         18  one, we're convened to talk about information

         19  technology but it's always, always, always important

         20  for us to remember that it is just a tool.  It is a

         21  tool on behalf of accomplishing something more

         22  important, and that something is improving the

         23  health of New York City's communities, and putting

         24  into the hands of primary care providers the tools

         25  they need to do that in the modern era.
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          2                 We know that providing good,

          3  effective, high quality primary and preventive care

          4  is key to addressing three major issues in New

          5  York's health system.

          6                 Number one, addressing the needs of

          7  the growing number of chronically ill, eliminating

          8  the appalling disparities between some of our

          9  communities, and number three, reducing health care

         10  costs.

         11                 I would submit that in today's

         12  environment this is clearly impossible in the

         13  absence of information technology, and most

         14  especially, electronic health records.  It's

         15  essential that primary care providers have the

         16  reminders and alerts that you've heard about earlier

         17  in this session, the ability to identify groups of

         18  patients and track their care, track whether they've

         19  received the care that they need, how their

         20  responding, information to avoid medication errors

         21  and duplicative testing, information about what

         22  happened to that patient when they were in another

         23  health care setting, whether it's in a hospital or

         24  in an emergency room.  What were they prescribed?

         25  How do you pick up the care from those settings?
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          2                 So, let me just talk for a moment

          3  about the primary care sector because it is

          4  different than many people assume.

          5                 Many people assume it's like  --

          6  there's an automatic assumption when talking about

          7  health IT that you're talking about hospitals, and

          8  we've been talking about primary care providers.

          9  Let me just point out a few of the differences.

         10                 Number one, they're small in size.

         11  Number two, they're many in number.  Number three,

         12  they lack internal IT capacity and experience, and

         13  number four, they lack financial resources,

         14  particularly because of the patients that they

         15  treat, and we're focused on primary care providers

         16  serving underserved communities.

         17                 So they start out in a different

         18  situation, and in many ways with many barriers.

         19  More than that you've heard, and I think now have a

         20  great deal of appreciation of the fact that EHR

         21  implementation is enormously complex, very

         22  expensive, and really risky to a player like this.

         23  You've heard about the national and the state

         24  activities in support of information technology.

         25  What you may or may not appreciate is that those are

                                                            86

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  very largely geared to the hospital setting.

          3                 I make this argument all the time,

          4  and that is, if we think it is important for this

          5  sector to be able to provide the kind of care that

          6  we're talking about, then you have to have a special

          7  initiative around the adoption of IT.  I am proud to

          8  say that I think in New York City we have a leading

          9  model for doing that, and I give all the credit in

         10  the world to the support of the City Council, to the

         11  role that the Mayor's played, to the Department of

         12  Health, to a set of players.  With leadership by the

         13  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, and the

         14  Community Health Care Association of New York, from

         15  whom you'll hear in just a moment, and the Primary

         16  Care Development Corporation, we've formed a

         17  consortium that we call the Primary Care Information

         18  Technology Consortium, PCHIC, and it's a consortium

         19  of 30 health centers across the City.  They are

         20  convened for the purpose of implementing information

         21  technology and right at the moment, most especially,

         22  electronic health records.

         23                 PCHIC's intent is to assure the

         24  success of every single health center in preparing

         25  for, acquiring, and fully implementing electronic
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          2  health records through an organized and a

          3  coordinated approach.

          4                 PCHIC is bringing together resources

          5  to do this, building on best practices, creating

          6  structured programs to assist providers, taking

          7  advantage of the combined health center scale that

          8  you get when you're working with 30 health centers,

          9  and capitalizing on mutual learning between the

         10  different players.

         11                 The initiative has received enormous

         12  support to date, particularly in capital resources.

         13  You know about the Mayor's commitment of $27 million

         14  to the acquisition of information technology.

         15  You've heard about the HEAL NY program, where PCHIC

         16  was able to apply and receive a grant of $3.2

         17  million, again for acquisition of electronic health

         18  records, and by the way, that was the only grant

         19  given to a primary care entity, or the only grant

         20  focused on primary care alone by the HEAL program.

         21                 Then, of course, we've had enormous

         22  support by the City Council for primary care at

         23  large, in many different aspects, and with regard to

         24  this effort in particular, the $2 million that you

         25  appropriated to help us put in place a program to
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          2  upgrade the infrastructure of these health centers,

          3  so that they're in a position to get those

          4  electronic health records, do that infrastructure

          5  upgrade.  You gave us $2 million last year, that

          6  allows us to focus on about a- third of the 30

          7  health centers, and we're looking forward to your

          8  support because we also want to do that for the

          9  other two- thirds.  More about that in just a

         10  second.

         11                 I want to emphasize that getting the

         12  electronic health record, is the least of it, and in

         13  many respects the capital costs, although they're

         14  very great, are the least of it because there's  --

         15  the true cost goes far beyond capital and

         16  acquisition of systems.  It is simply the cost of

         17  major organizational transformation, which is what

         18  electronic health records do.

         19                 So, think about the costs that are

         20  involved in the adequate planning and preparing for

         21  electronic health records. Selecting the right

         22  electronic health record, analyzing your operations

         23  and redesigning work flow and putting in place new

         24  work processes, creating new policies and procedures

         25  for doing all kinds of things differently that
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          2  you've never done that way before, developing new

          3  staff roles and staff competencies.  Think of that

          4  medical records room and the clerks who take these

          5  physical pieces of paper and exchange them put them

          6  in piles, put them in folders.  Those people are all

          7  going to be doing different things and that process

          8  is going to be completely different with the

          9  electronic health record.  That has to be designed,

         10  and that has to be put in place if the center is to

         11  be successful with its effort.

         12                 Think about the training of staff.

         13  There are some staff who actually don't know how to

         14  use computers, so we're talking about basic in many

         15  instances.

         16                 Think about all of that, you're

         17  managing a major project, and finally there's the

         18  cost of taking the people who have to do this kind

         19  of work and planning and implementation off line

         20  from what they were doing already, and devoting that

         21  time to it, and the loss of productivity that you're

         22  going to have during the period when you're putting

         23  those Electronic Medical Records --  when you're

         24  actually implementing them.

         25                 So, the costs go far beyond just the
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          2  capital, and that's where there is a real concern

          3  about resources.

          4                 Let me talk about PCDC for just a

          5  moment.  I think most of you know that we are a non-

          6  profit organization focused on getting good,

          7  effective primary care into New York's underserved

          8  communities.  We bring resources and expertise to

          9  providers to carry out their mission in these

         10  communities, and we have enormous experience, both

         11  in capital and in operations of health centers and

         12  primary care.

         13                 So with regard to this effort, we're

         14  playing a number of roles.  First of all, we are the

         15  ones who will administer the City Council

         16  infrastructure monies, and that effort is going very

         17  well.  We're in the later stages of assessing the

         18  specific needs of the 30 players.  We'll want to be

         19  in touch with you as we get that picture clear in

         20  front of us.             As you know, we originally

         21  estimated that the total effort would cost $6.46

         22  million, and we do want to work with you in the

         23  coming year to make sure that we have the resources

         24  to do this across the board for all of the health

         25  centers.
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          2                 We lead PCHIC members through a

          3  process of looking at all of the different

          4  electronic health records that are available,

          5  looking at those that are most appropriate and most

          6  functional in these settings, and narrowing down

          7  that large field to three or four that we really

          8  feel good about, and that PCHIC will back.

          9                 The`we' by the way is largely in the

         10  hands of Helene Koppell, my colleague here.  We've

         11  developed a program that will take health centers

         12  through that readiness process. All of that

         13  organizational planning and change that you need, so

         14  that when you actually bring in the electronic

         15  health record, and you implement, you're prepared

         16  for success, and we will do that with batches of

         17  health centers going through that program.

         18                 Finally, I wanted to mention a PCDC

         19  project that we're feeling very good about.  With

         20  actually the backing of a private foundation, we've

         21  created and are testing a program of implementation

         22  support for community health centers as they

         23  actually put it in place.  We're working with the

         24  Brownsville Multiservice Family Health Center in

         25  Brooklyn in doing that, and we're very excited about
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          2  the project.  In fact, tomorrow the first department

          3  actually goes live with its EHR.

          4                 So in concluding, I want to say on

          5  behalf of all of the PCHIC partners, that we want to

          6  thank the City Council for its understanding, its

          7  commitment, and its support of community health and

          8  all of those who work together to improve community

          9  health and to promote it.

         10                 We want to keep you abreast of what

         11  we're doing. We want to consult with you as we move

         12  forward with this extraordinary initiative, and as

         13  we move forward bringing the benefits of technology

         14  to New York's underserved communities.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you for

         17  your comments.

         18                 Is Helene Koppell going to testify?

         19                 MS. KOTELCHUCK:  Now we'll answer

         20  questions, and she's here to answer the hard

         21  questions.  I got the easy part.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay.

         23                 MS. KOTELCHUCK:  So you'll direct

         24  those to her.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Before a
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          2  question or two is asked, we are joined by my

          3  colleague Councilman James Sanders from Queens.

          4  Glad that you are here.

          5                 I think probably one of the comments

          6  is that for those who are here in this hearing, is

          7  that primary care played a very key role in the task

          8  force that the Speaker had formed for looking at the

          9  hospital closings, and it's always good to know that

         10  in the Berger Commission they did address, maybe not

         11  at great length that you had wanted them to, but

         12  they certainly did mention that, and it was

         13  interesting because so much of what our proposals

         14  were in the final report were so followed by the

         15  Berger Commission, I don't know if you took notice

         16  of that?

         17                 MS. KOTELCHUCK:  Oh, we absolutely

         18  did.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I think you

         20  had  --  you made some very good points about those

         21  hidden costs, and not the direct visual ones that we

         22  can see.  So, what you've painted is a very lengthy,

         23  costly process, and also having to really have

         24  people re- think exactly how they work in the

         25  workforce, and what they do.
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          2                 Do you think that that is going to be

          3  something that's going to be an endless effort in

          4  having to encourage people to make that transition?

          5                 MR. KOTELCHUCK:  I'm going to answer

          6  briefly, and then turn it over to Heleen.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Because that's

          8  a major factor.  You're right that many, many people

          9  do not use computers in the workforce.  They do not.

         10

         11                 MS. KOTELCHUCK:  I do not think it's

         12  an infinite process in that some major, sort of,

         13  planning acquisition and implementation process

         14  that's very, very intense, and it does require

         15  virtual transformation of a lot of how you do work

         16  in a health center.

         17                 On the other hand, that's never

         18  finished.  You're never at the end of that, of

         19  looking at how you're doing work and improving it.

         20                 So, let me for some of the detail

         21  turn it over to Helene.

         22                 MS. KOPPELL:  Hello, I think it is

         23  true that it is going to be an ongoing endeavor for

         24  health centers that undertake this work because in a

         25  sense, the project is really never over.
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          2                 There is the initial adoption of the

          3  system, but the  --  by the very nature of

          4  technology, which is changing very rapidly we all

          5  know that PC's two years later, if that, there's a

          6  new one on the market and so forth and so on.  So

          7  that itself is a challenge, but I would echo what

          8  Ronda said in that one of the things that we are

          9  working very hard is to really understand how

         10  important the preparation of the organization is in

         11  taking this work on, and that if we can figure out

         12  the best way to equip health centers, yes about the

         13  EHR adoption, but also about meeting the challenges

         14  as they come up, which is the good planning, the

         15  understanding of the culture, the innovative

         16  approaches that are required, the role of

         17  leadership, the role of staff development, that will

         18  help them and equip them to use the system properly

         19  but to adapt as the technology evolves or as their

         20  needs evolve, and they transform from being users of

         21  the system to really taking advantage of the higher

         22  functionality, the public health functionality and

         23  they'll look at populations and so forth.

         24                 So, I think it's really about that

         25  ability to empower the health centers to have the
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          2  skills they need to meet the ongoing challenges.

          3  Hopefully they're not endless, but they certainly

          4  will be ongoing but if they're prepared for that and

          5  they have the tools they need, hopefully it will

          6  really help them meet the challenges that they are

          7  going to continually face.  So, that's our approach.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  You know, one

          9  of the proposals that we had in the hospital report,

         10  and I'm just thinking about it now as you're

         11  talking, is that we proposed a capital project fund.

         12

         13                 It seems to me that, and now the

         14  Chair is back, that we should have a fund and that's

         15  the concept for information technology, that that

         16  could be added to it.  The way we pay off, or go

         17  towards paying off our debt service of 20 years ago,

         18  we should be able to do something about information

         19  technology because we can't restructure, we can't go

         20  on with the way hospitals will have to do without

         21  having included in that entire restructuring is

         22  information technology.

         23                 I think that's something, Madam

         24  Chair, we need to look at when we do the budget.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you, thank

          3  you Council Member Sears.

          4                 I think one of the biggest issues

          5  that you face, and I'm sorry I wasn't here but I

          6  read your wonderful testimony, is the training

          7  aspect.

          8                 How do you approach that?  It didn't

          9  come up so much at HHC and DOH, I think we just

         10  didn't have time, but how do you approach that

         11  challenge, it's ongoing I guess, it costs money, et

         12  cetera.

         13                 MS. KOPPELL:  Well, there actually

         14  sort of three realms of training if you will, that

         15  have to be addressed.  One is strictly speaking the

         16  training on the EHR.

         17                 So, you obtain an EHR from a

         18  particular vendor, and there is very specific

         19  functionality that all of the users need to be

         20  trained on, whatever their functions, that relate

         21  just to the EHR.  So, that's one realm.

         22                 Another one is the training that they

         23  need to undertake to operate their business with the

         24  EHR, and that usually really comes out two things

         25  like work flow and the procedures that they have to
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          2  adopt now that they're in an automated environment

          3  vis- a- vis a manual one, and the third which is, I

          4  think, mentioned at least once here today, is

          5  sometimes basic training, which is where people

          6  really don't have any exposure, haven't had exposure

          7  yet to computers and so forth, and they need

          8  training on using the equipment and the mouse, and

          9  those kinds of things.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So is that part

         11  of the vendors role or your role, or both?

         12                 MS. KOPPELL:  So, the EHR training is

         13  typically strictly speaking a vendor endeavor.

         14                 Now there are different models for

         15  doing that, and some of that is driven by the

         16  vendor, it's driven by the particular site or it can

         17  even be negotiated, they have off- site, and they

         18  have train- the- trainers, and a variety of

         19  arrangements that you can have, but that's really

         20  their purview.

         21                 There are also models where people

         22  can get certified in the product and become

         23  trainers.

         24                 With respect to the two other areas,

         25  it is definitely an area of focus for PCDC and other
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          2  people who are concerned with the implementation

          3  component of the EHR's.

          4                 So, a critical piece in some of the

          5  readiness we're doing is this look, this very close

          6  look at work flow.  How are they going to manage

          7  their day now that they have an EHR?

          8                 So, we are focusing on making those

          9  determinations.  So literally, what are the steps

         10  that a patient of provider will follow?  How does

         11  the training get scheduled? All of that has to be

         12  practiced and prepared before you start?  And what

         13  are the workforce and HR issues that are part of

         14  this project?

         15                 As Ronda said, and other have, people

         16  may be doing completely different jobs, and

         17  sometimes that needs to be taken up from an HR

         18  perspective.  It may even involve different kinds of

         19  incentives, talking to labor organizations, what

         20  have you.

         21                 So, our approach is to look to sort

         22  of a 360 degree as part of our readiness work to set

         23  health centers up to really understand their`to do'

         24  list around these training issues, and also how

         25  important training is.
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          2                 It's very clear that it cannot be

          3  overemphasized because no matter how well the EHR

          4  works, if you don't know what to do with it, it

          5  really doesn't matter that all the data is there.

          6  It's critical that it's available to the right user

          7  at the right time, and that's really how we're

          8  trying to get at this training issue.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you, and

         10  you're in 29 centers now, is that the right number

         11  or not?

         12                 I don't know, and how do you expand,

         13  and how do you plan to expand in general?

         14                 MS. KOPPELL:  We're in 29 centers.

         15  PCHIC has 29 centers.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.

         17                 MS. KOPPELL:  Our first group, if you

         18  will, will be eight.  We're going to actually do

         19  eight health centers through this process.

         20                 Currently, our plan is to basically

         21  re- launch the initiative with another group, as

         22  they become ready to move along in their process.

         23  All of the health centers are not necessarily at the

         24  same place today, so the first group are those that

         25  are identified as the ones who are really ready to
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          2  move forward at this time because that's a critical

          3  piece, of course, too.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  We've been

          5  joined by Council Member Miguel Martinez, he stepped

          6  out but he's here.

          7                 The HHC and DOH talked about some of

          8  the Federal guidelines, or state guidelines, some

          9  inconsistency.  Does that impact you?

         10                 I'm always concerned about mandates,

         11  funded, unfunded, and inoperable or not inoperable,

         12  using that broader term.

         13                 So, do you have to abide by some of

         14  those?  How do you fit into this sort of master plan

         15  that they were talking about?

         16                 MS. KOPPELL:  You are talking with

         17  respect to the privacy and security aspect?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Privacy,

         19  security, and then also then in the end, I think

         20  what we're hoping for is what Council Member Mendez

         21  was talking about, which is that the ability to be

         22  more portable.

         23                 So, I'm thinking about how you,

         24  obviously, do your incredible work, and then how it

         25  can be part of a larger picture.
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          2                 MS. KOPPELL:  Well, one of the ways

          3  that we're looking at this is that there's many

          4  things that can be done in terms of the preparation

          5  for EHR that are eminently sharable and global, and

          6  we're trying to tap into that to the extent that we

          7  can so that we can pull people and convene them

          8  together, and make the most out of any opportunities

          9  to share experiences, best practices, lessons

         10  learned, and all those things.

         11                 Let me just say that we are trying no

         12  to recreate anything that's been done.  There are

         13  plenty of experiences out there, and we're really

         14  trying to draw upon those.  So to the extent

         15  possible, we're really trying to be as efficient as

         16  we can in pooling all those resources and

         17  experiences and sharing those, and I think that will

         18  make it scalable.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And that'll work

         20  with the acute care hospitals also?

         21                 I mean, that's what I'm saying,

         22  across the board. It's not your work to do that but

         23  I just was wondering if that's --

         24                 MS. KOPPELL:  I think the model can

         25  certainly work.  I think it would need to be
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          2  flexible enough to address unique aspects, they have

          3  different organizational structures and so forth,

          4  but yes, I think the model would be easily

          5  adaptable, and I think it's scaleable.  We're

          6  starting with eight, we think that's a good number

          7  for a good first pass, and it would be our intention

          8  that it should be able to be enlarged over time.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, how does

         10   --  does the State and Federal governments assist

         11  in this effort?

         12                 MS. KOPPELL:  Assit --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Financially,

         14  yes.

         15                 MS. KOPPELL:  I think indirectly this

         16  is being financed  --  I may need to  --  we're

         17  working at this time with the Department of Health

         18  under the HEAL NY grants, so my understanding is

         19  that the origin of that is coming through those

         20  grant funds.

         21                 What we would like to do is, of

         22  course, make this something that would be valuable

         23  and would be attractive to anybody who wants to

         24  support these kinds of efforts.

         25                 So, for now that's --
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          2                 MS. KOTELCHUCK:  Let me say in

          3  general, there is not, except on an occasional grant

          4  around RFP, there's not resources from the Federal

          5  government.

          6                 I think you heard their role

          7  described much more in terms of creating standards

          8  and certifications and things like that.

          9                 We have been able  --  we were the

         10  only primary care group to be able to tap into the

         11  HEAL NY program, which is a billion dollars in

         12  capital, for the purpose of restructuring the health

         13  system, post the Berger Report.  But, I think New

         14  York City is really quite remarkable because of the

         15  amount of city level commitment around the EHR, and

         16  so we take all these pieces and we put them

         17  together, and we look at where  --  we discover

         18  where the cracks are, and then we go in search of

         19  how you fill those cracks.

         20                 We are making an argument to the

         21  State because we do have a new state administration.

         22    I do think there will be a new, sort of, policy

         23  outlook.  We're making the same arguments there that

         24  we made right here, which is if you care about the

         25  primary care sector, you must construct a special
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          2  initiative around IT because it's not going to

          3  happen otherwise, and you need only look at the RFP

          4  requirements in, for instance, the HEAL program to

          5  see how hard it is for primary care providers to

          6  participate.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Same question I

          8  asked more global, the issue of the ability to

          9  network, I guess, between centers, you need that,

         10  you need fiber, you need backbone, and obviously,

         11  the home component.  Is that something that you have

         12  to address, or are you just dealing with the centers

         13  themselves?

         14                 In other words, the home consumer

         15  access, if that's part of the program, and certainly

         16  the bigger picture of would it be helpful to have

         17  more broadband and more fiber that's faster

         18  citywide?

         19                 MS. KOPPELL:  I would have to

         20  probably say yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I just didn't

         22  know if it's come up as an obstacle?

         23                 MS. KOPPELL:  Certainly the capacity

         24  of the networking and the Internet connectivity has

         25  certainly been discussed.
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          2                 With respect to the patient and the

          3  home environment, what we're doing at this time is

          4  really trying to understand where the health center

          5  wants to be, what its goals and objectives are in

          6  going down this path.

          7                 There are a small amount that are

          8  very patient focused, with respect to the technology

          9  component, and being a sort of, beacon of access to

         10  technology in their communities. But some of them

         11  are just more focused on getting that EHR, and

         12  getting it up and running.

         13                 So, we're trying to be sensitive to

         14  that, and make sure that to the extent possible that

         15  the technology they're seeking is sensible and

         16  logical for what those goals are and not

         17  contradictory to some ultimate goals they might have

         18  in the future.

         19                 Did that answer your question?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Yes.

         21                 MS. KOTELCHUCK:  I might just add to

         22  that, if you look at now occasional foundation

         23  funding, if you look at the HEAL funding, such

         24  funding is available.  There is the notion that you

         25  need vertical integration, you need to have the

                                                            107

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  ability to exchange information to  --  the very

          3  great concern about parties participating in RHIO's,

          4  we've taken the stand that, yes, that's absolutely

          5  important.  We can't wait for the day when that

          6  information flows between all those different

          7  parties but, if we go into that era and health

          8  centers do not have the basic EHR themselves, then

          9  they're not going to be at that table.  All of that

         10  will have been for naught for them.

         11                 So, we're sort of like just focusing

         12  right in on making sure they have that, and

         13  empowering them, and once they have that, that

         14  allows them to do a lot of things in terms of

         15  patient/community participation and networks, et

         16  cetera, et cetera.  Without it, they're not even a

         17  player at the table.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         19  much for you incredible leadership on this, and I

         20  think between you and certainly others in the city

         21  agencies that testified earlier, I think what you

         22  said, Ronda, is true, New York should be very proud.

         23                 So, thank you.

         24                 Our next panel is Kate Breslin,

         25  Community Health Care Association of New York State,

                                                            108

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  and Barbara Wood (sic) from the same.

          3                 Good afternoon.

          4                 MS. HOOD:  Good afternoon, thank you

          5  so much for giving me this opportunity to present

          6   --  it's kind of an interesting place to be at this

          7  point in the agenda because so much of the really

          8  critical information has already been talked about.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Introduce

         10  yourself first, even though you told me.

         11                 MS. HOOD:  I will, my name is Barbara

         12  Hood, and I am the Chief Information Officer at the

         13  Community Health Care Association of New York State,

         14  otherwise known as CHCANYS.

         15                 For those of you who may not know,

         16  CHCANYS is New York State's Primary Care

         17  Association, and we represent community health care

         18  centers and community- based providers all over the

         19  state.  They are non- profit providers of primary

         20  and preventative health care.  Community and

         21  homeless health centers are located in medically

         22  underserved areas.  I think you know their aim is to

         23  provide affordable, high quality and comprehensive

         24  primary care to the medically underserved

         25  populations, and this is regardless of insurance or
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          2  ability to pay.  No two health centers are alike,

          3  but they all do share a common purpose, and that is

          4  to provide primary health care services that are

          5  coordinated culturally and linguistically, competent

          6  and community- focused, as well as to eliminate

          7  disparities in health care.

          8                 You've heard a lot about the Primary

          9  Care Health Information Consortium and CHCANYS,

         10  along with our partners PCDC and the Department of

         11  Health have really created a wonderful

         12  collaboration, and CHCANYS is really been very

         13  excited to be a part of it.

         14                 Interestingly enough, I joined

         15  CHCANYS just about I think the very first month that

         16  PCHIC got started, so it was really a baptism by

         17  fire for me, and very exciting.

         18                 Our role in CHCANYS in that

         19  collaborative has really been as a convener to the

         20  many stakeholders.  Almost all of the community

         21  health care centers in New York City are members of

         22  our association, so we are their membership

         23  representation. We act as a liaison in convening

         24  them as stakeholders.

         25                 As you've heard already, Health

                                                            110

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  Information Technology and the value in the primary

          3  care setting really cannot be overstated.  Every one

          4  from policy makers, payers, providers and patients

          5  are increasingly relying on HIT as a tool for

          6  measuring and improving quality, eliminating

          7  disparities, and reducing costs.

          8                 Despite the attention on HIT, it's

          9  interesting to remark that adoption rates do remain

         10  low, particularly among primary care physicians, and

         11  this is especially true in community health care

         12  centers.

         13                 We do consider it essential to their

         14  continuing their commitment to providing high

         15  quality care, but resources are not available for

         16  health centers at the same rate as they are at other

         17  major medical centers, hospitals, or physicians that

         18  do not serve the underserved.

         19                 There has been a recent study by the

         20  National Association of Heath Centers that indicates

         21  that health centers do want to implement EHR but

         22  they are able to adopt Health Information Technology

         23  at a much, much lower rate.  So, that's part of the

         24  reason that collaborations like PCHIC are so

         25  important, because the focus, as Ronda said, needs
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          2  to be there really targeting in on primary care,

          3  those physicians and providers that target the

          4  underserved because without that special focus it

          5  just will not happen in that sector.

          6                 I think we've already talked a lot

          7  about the implementation, but it's just not the

          8  technology.  It really is the way it is adopted, the

          9  organizational readiness to meet the goals that need

         10  to be made, and the kinds of functioning IT systems

         11  can create connections to public health, facilitate

         12  population- wide reporting, and data exchange.

         13                 Without the proper planning that

         14  we've heard about that is going on, which includes

         15  planning, staffing, training, work flow management,

         16  these implementations are risky and in fact, can put

         17  some of our organizations at a step backwards

         18  instead of a step ahead.

         19                 So, just to reiterate, the technology

         20  initiative that's targeted at primary care is

         21  essential because these providers, particularly

         22  those who serve Medicaid and uninsured do face

         23  unique challenges, and the collaboration that we're

         24  a part of hopes to help them meet those challenges.

         25                 Unless you have any other questions,
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          2  we thank the City Council for its support.  We know

          3  we can count on you going forward.  New York really

          4  is in the forefront. I actually sit on a couple of

          5  committees that are nationwide, and PCHIC is

          6  building a reputation around the country for doing

          7  some really groundbreaking work.

          8                 So, New York is not alone by the way

          9  in facing these challenges, even though there has

         10  been a Federal mandate for each American to have a

         11  health record, I think, by 2010 or 2011.  The money

         12  and the funding has not been appropriated so it

         13  really behooves all of us to make it happen in very

         14  creative ways.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you.

         16                 We've been joined by Council Member

         17  John Liu, who's been ably running the Transportation

         18  Committee for hours, so thank you very much.

         19                 MS. HOOD:  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Other questions?

         21                 The questions I have is, so tell me

         22  what you feel between the records, prescription,

         23  what would make the onsite difference in your

         24  clinics as a result of this technology?

         25                 In other words, the day to day
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          2  experience? Obviously we're talking about electronic

          3  records, down the line, prescriptions, down the

          4  line, coordination with acute care, there's a long

          5  list that could go on.

          6                 MS. HOOD:  Yes, I think what really

          7  makes the difference is some of things we've already

          8  discussed.  There tends to be funding to a limited

          9  degree for capital cost, but where there really is a

         10  big gap and probably one of the bigger barriers is

         11  when it comes to the non- capital.  What does it

         12  take for leadership and vision and project planning?

         13

         14                 A couple of you asked earlier about

         15  the master plan.  When you build a house, you have

         16  an architect, you don't put up the curtains before

         17  you have the foundation.

         18                 Some of those key competencies are

         19  not in every health center, and that's the role that

         20  PCDC and CHCANYS is playing, along with the

         21  Department of Health to say besides just purchasing

         22  the system and the equipment, and making sure the

         23  fiber is there, what are those kind of intangibles?

         24  That's where I think actually, it makes a difference

         25  between success and failure.  Unfortunately, that's
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          2  where the funding doesn't exist. So, I think that is

          3  probably the biggest difference.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  It's a big

          5  obstacle.

          6                 MS. HOOD:  Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And it's too

          8  early to tell if there are any cost savings?

          9                 It's generally true that in

         10  technology it takes a while to see work flow better,

         11  you see information flow better but savings take a

         12  while.  Is that true in this situation?

         13                 MS. HOOD:  It does, yes, and the jury

         14  is kind of still out.  There have been a couple of

         15  different journals written on that.

         16                 Sometimes when the technology is

         17  implemented, in some cases that costs actually go up

         18  because more information is available, and the

         19  provider can do a better job at certain things, but

         20  at the same time, he's collecting more data.

         21                 So, in some ways, costs can increase.

         22    But, I think in the long run, when you make the

         23  push toward preventative care, you're ultimately

         24  going to save money, and I think, it's like what's

         25  happened in so many other industry's; banking,
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          2  finance, initially there are a lot of higher costs

          3  and then things stabilize a bit.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So, if you were

          5  to say your main obstacle  --  it's the non- capital

          6  challenge?

          7                 MS. HOOD:  I would say that, yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, all right,

          9  and that's something that you are working on?

         10                 MS. HOOD:  We're working hard to try

         11  to make that happen, but that part is not easy.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 I really appreciate your being here.

         15                 Tom Lowenhaupt, who is a member of

         16  Community Board 3 in Queens.

         17                 Welcome.

         18                 MR. LOWENHAUPT:  Thank you, again, I

         19  am Tom Lowenhaupt, member of Queens Community Board

         20  3, and within the scope of your hearing today, it's

         21  a very small issue that I'm bringing to your

         22  attention, but the fact that it deals with

         23  technology and it deals with health, I thought this

         24  is just the perfect place to do it.

         25                 I'd like to describe my experiences
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          2  with heath maps issued by the Department of Health.

          3                 Several years ago I saw a map in the

          4  New York Times, plotting diabetes cases in New York

          5  City.  The map had been issued by the Department of

          6  Health.  Looking at the map, one would judge my

          7  community district as having a low rate of diabetes

          8  but the text of the article, detailing the

          9  demographics of diabetes sufferers described our

         10  districts residents to a `T'.

         11                 Exploring, I learned that Community

         12  District 3 had been grouped with other Northern

         13  Queens neighborhoods as far east as Douglaston,

         14  neighborhoods with far different demographic and

         15  apparently lower incidents of diabetes than our

         16  community.

         17                 A second New York Times map dealt

         18  with asthma. Again, one looking at the map would

         19  judge our community district as having a moderate

         20  rate, but the text described our residents

         21  demographics and with LaGuardia Airport in our

         22  district, I was again suspicious.  Investigating, I

         23  learned that in that instance we had been grouped

         24  with neighborhoods to the south as far as Maspeth,

         25  and as thus, we were not highlighted as having an
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          2  asthma problem.  In the face of such authoritative

          3  evidence, it's difficult to rally the troops to do

          4  something about asthma or diabetes.

          5                 I asked the Department of Health to

          6  take care in issuing its reports and present them

          7  with sufficient detail and groupings to ensure that

          8  they reflect reality.  Good maps provide invaluable

          9  guidance, bad maps can kill.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Helen, do you

         12  want to talk about your wonderful Community Board 3

         13  member?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Well, I want

         15  to first thank Tome Lowenhaupt for being here.  He's

         16  a member of one of the best community board's in the

         17  City, but he's also been very patient, Madam Chair.

         18  He's been here before I got here, and as long, and

         19  that takes a lot to do that.

         20                 It's very important that your

         21  comments are made because they are for the record,

         22  and you're making some very good points.

         23                 I do know this, that the Department

         24  of Health issues to each council member some of the

         25  health indices that are happening in their district.
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          2    They may not do that as frequently as they should

          3  because I'm not sure if that goes to the community

          4  board, and we should find out.  I don't think they

          5  do it as often as they should.

          6                 Do you know?  Because I know you must

          7  get it in your office as well.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Yes I do.  I

          9  think that they are divided by community board, Tom,

         10  but I get one that says Chelsea/Clinton, and one

         11  that says Upper West Side, and I believe that's the

         12  community board district.

         13                 So, we should check the department,

         14  and the maps in the newspaper may be different.

         15                 MR. LOWENHAUPT:  I think they have

         16  something called "Health Zones" also, and so I think

         17  the basic City Charter somewhere says that,

         18  "statistics are to be kept by community district,"

         19  and you can break them up anyway you want these days

         20  with GIS, and computers and such, but for our

         21  benefit it would have been nice  --  you know, I was

         22  sitting at a Health Committee meeting and saying,

         23  "we've got a problem here with diabetes" and we

         24  have this health fair each year, and I said, "let's

         25  have that as a focus this year."   Someone had read
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          2  the paper, it was just that day, and they said,

          3   "well, look at this, we don't have diabetes

          4  problems."

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I think we

          6  should get Community Board 3 in Queens a good GIS of

          7  the  --  your districts, which we will do.

          8                 MR. LOWENHAUPT:  Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you,

         12  Tom.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Any other

         14  questions?  No.

         15                 All right, well I just want to

         16  summarize and thank in absentia, Council Member Joel

         17  Rivera, and to say much thanks to the staff that put

         18  this material together.

         19                 I think that health IT is an

         20  incredibly important topic.

         21                 I also am impressed with the persons

         22  who testified, and the fact of the matter is, I

         23  think we're in good hands in terms of what has been

         24  accomplished.

         25                 There is a huge amount of work to be
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          2  done.  I think  --  you obviously see that there's a

          3  capital side, there's an expense side, there's a

          4  training side, there's a broadband side, there's a

          5  consumer side, and of course, there's just a massive

          6  amount of work to do, primary care, acute care, and

          7  figuring out platforms for both.

          8                 So, I am here to say that it's a

          9  pleasure to work with the Health Committee, and I

         10  don't know  --  this has basically been an oversight

         11  hearing, we'll see if we can be supportive of some

         12  of the State and Federal actions.  Certainly I think

         13  there are some unfunded band- aids there that which

         14  we could work with you to try to close the gap on,

         15  and get them funded.

         16                 So with that, I would like to say

         17  thanks to all, and we look forward to the next

         18  discussion.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 3:36 p.m.)
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